
Meeting Accessibility Services and Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Notice:  City Hall Annex is accessible to persons with 
disabilities. A request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or for other accommodations for persons with disabilities should be 
made at least 48 hours before the meeting to the City Recorder (503) 864-2221 ext. 517 or myork@daytonoregon.gov.   Page 1 of 2 

 

 
AGENDA 

DAYTON CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR SESSION 

 
DATE: MONDAY, APRIL 03, 2023    
TIME: 6:30 PM 
PLACE: DAYTON CITY HALL ANNEX – 408 FERRY STREET, DAYTON, OREGON 
VIRTUAL: ZOOM MEETING – ORS 192.670/HB 2560 
 

You may join the Council Meeting online via Zoom Meeting at: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89842350238   
or you can call in and listen via Zoom:   1 346 248-7799 or 1 720 707-2699 
   

Dayton – Rich in History . . . Envisioning Our Future 
 
ITEM     DESCRIPTION                                                                                                        PAGE # 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

      
B. ROLL CALL  
 
C. APPEARANCE OF INTERESTED CITIZENS 
 

The public is encouraged to relay concerns and/or comments to the City Council in one of the following 
methods: 
 

• Email – any time up to 5:00 p.m. the day of the meeting to myork@daytonoregon.gov. The Mayor 
will read the comments emailed to the City Recorder. 

• Appear in person – if you would like to speak during public comment, please sign-up on the sign-in 
sheet located on the table when you enter the Council Chambers.  

• Appear by Telephone only – please sign up prior to the meeting by emailing the City Recorder at 
myork@daytonoregon.gov. (The chat function is not available when calling by phone into Zoom.) 

• Appear virtually via Zoom – once you are in the meeting, send a chat directly to the City Recorder, 
Melissa York, use the raise hand feature in Zoom to request to speak during public comment. The 
City Recorder will need to your first and last name, address and contact information (email or phone 
number) before you are invited to speak.  
 

When it is your turn, the Mayor will announce your name and your microphone will be unmuted.   
 
D. CONSENT AGENDA 

1. Work Session Meeting Minutes – February 22, 2023                   01-02 
2. Regular Session Meeting Minutes – March 06, 2023         03-07 
3. OLCC Liquor License Application - LOAM, 306 Ferry Street       09-13 

 
E. ACTION ITEMS 

1. Donation Request – Dayton FFA Easter Egg Hunt        15-18 
2. Donation Request - Dayton Volunteer Firefighters – Old Timers Weekend     19-20 
3. FY 21-22 Audit Presentation, Devan Esch, Grove, Mueller & Swank, P.C.     21-83          
4. Temporary Signage Approval for Dayton VFW Event         85-91 
5. Sewer Rate Study Presentation, Tim Tice, Oregon Association of Water                          93-95   

Utilities (OAWU)   
6. FY 2023/2024 Budget Calendar                         97 

 

mailto:myork@daytonoregon.gov
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89842350238
mailto:myork@daytonoregon.gov
mailto:myork@daytonoregon.gov


 

Meeting Accessibility Services and Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) Notice:  City Hall Annex is accessible to persons with disabilities. 
A request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or for other accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at least 48 
hours before the meeting to the City Recorder (503) 864-2221 ext. 517 or myork@daytonoregon.gov.     Page 2 of 2 

 

 
7. Introduction of Tourism and Economic Development Director – Dave Rucklos       

 
F. CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS/CONCERNS 
 
 
G. INFORMATION REPORTS    
            1. City Manager’s Report                         99-118          
 
H. ADJOURN  
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              
 
Posted:  March 31, 2023          
By:  Melissa York, City Recorder 
 

 
 
 

NEXT MEETING DATES 
City Council Regular Session Meeting - Budget, Monday, May 01, 2023 
City Council Work Session Meeting - Budget, Monday, May 15, 2023 

 
 

Virtually via Zoom and in Person; City Hall Annex, 408 Ferry Street, Dayton, Oregon 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

mailto:myork@daytonoregon.gov


MINUTES 
DAYTON CITY COUNCIL 

WORK SESSION 
February 21, 2023 

PRESENT: Mayor Trini Marquez ABSENT: 
Council President Jim Maguire 
Councilor Annette Frank 
Councilor Kitty Mackin (via Zoom) 
Councilor Rosalba Sandoval-Perez (via Zoom) 
Councilor Luke Wildhaber 
Councilor Andrew Hildebrandt 

STAFF: Rochelle Roaden, City Manager 
Melissa York, City Recorder 
Steve Sagmiler, Public Works Director 
Josh Bilodeau, Public Works Supervisor (via Zoom) 
Denny Muchmore, City Engineer 

A. CALL TO ORDER & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

Mayor Marquez called the meeting to order at 6:35 p.m. and those present gave the Pledge
of Allegiance.

B. ROLL CALL

Mayor Marquez noted there was a quorum with Councilors Frank, Maguire, Wildhaber,
and Hildebrandt attending the meeting in person. Councilors Sandoval-Perez and Mackin
attending via Zoom.

C. WORK SESSION

1. Strategic Goals Review and Update

Rochelle Roaden, City Manager, stated that typically in February, a City Council Work Session
is held to review and budget for the the current Fiscal Year (FY) 22/23 strategic goals, Priority 1
updates, and set the next FY 23/24 strategic goals and priorities. Updates had been included to
each Priority 1 objectives for the current FY 22/23, and any adjustments and discussion points
were marked in red.

Rochelle Roaden explained the four goals ratings and stated the following:

   1 – begin/budget in the next fiscal year 
   2 – accomplish/budget for in 2-3 years 
   3 – accomplish/budget for in 3-5 years 
   4 – routine-ongoing from year to year 

1



An overview of the strategic plan goals was given. Rochelle Roaden explained that they included 
goals A-F and stated the following: 

Goal A – Develop and maintain resilient infrastructure to support operations 
               and meet growth. 
Goal B – Create a livable community that is aesthetically pleasing, 
               affordable, inviting, and with a vibrant and diverse economy. 
Goal C – Capitalize on Dayton’s facilities and resources to provide 

recreational and cultural opportunities. 
Goal D – Use Dayton’s heritage and historic resources to forward our 

image as an authentic and charming town. 
Goal E –  Engage in efficient and effective activities to promote 

                                        community safety and wellness. 
Goal F –  Enhance communications to actively engage the community. 

A strategic plan goals discussion took place with a focus on all Priority 1 objectives for the 
current FY 22-23 and for FY 23-24. 

Rochelle Roaden mentioned a few other projects that were not included in the strategic goals that 
staff had completed in FY 22-23. They were the Park Improvement Project List Creation and 
Survey (per Council Request), 6th Street Overlay, and Waste Management Conservation Plan 
Update (required by the State every 10 years).  

D. ADJOURN

There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 9:07 p.m.

Respectfully submitted: APPROVED BY COUNCIL on April 03, 2023. 

□ As Written □ As Amended

By:   Melissa York 
City Recorder 

_____________________________ 
Trini Marquez, Mayor 

2



MINUTES 
DAYTON CITY COUNCIL 

REGULAR SESSION  
March 06, 2023 

PRESENT: Mayor Trini Marquez  ABSENT:  Councilor Rosalba Sandoval-Perez 
Council President Jim Maguire (via Zoom)      Josh Bilodeau, Public Works Supervisor 
Councilor Annette Frank 
Councilor Kitty Mackin   
Councilor Luke Wildhaber 
Councilor Andrew Hildebrandt 

STAFF: Rochelle Roaden, City Manager 
Melissa York, City Recorder 

A. CALL TO ORDER & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

Mayor Marquez called the meeting to order at 6:32 p.m. and those present gave the Pledge
of Allegiance.

B. ROLL CALL

Mayor Marquez noted there was a quorum with Councilors Frank, Maguire, Wildhaber,
and Hildebrandt attending the meeting in person. Councilor Mackin attending via
Zoom and Councilor Rosalba Sandoval-Perez absent.

C. APPEARANCE OF INTERESTED CITIZENS

No one in attendance wanted to comment at tonight’s meeting.

D. CONSENT AGENDA

Approval of Meeting Minutes

1. Regular Meeting Minutes from February 06, 2023

ANNETTE FRANK MOVED TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF 
THE REGULAR SESSION CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
OF FEBRUARY 6, 2023, AS AMENDED. SECONDED BY KITTY 
MACKIN. Motion carried with Frank, Mackin, Maguire, Wildhaber, 
Hildebrandt and Marquez voting aye.  

E. ACTION ITEMS

1. Approval of Resolution 22/23-10 Declaring April 2023 National Child Abuse Prevention
Month

Mayor Marquez introduced Carole Joa and Katie Bowman, representatives of Juliette’s House.
Carole Joa provided handouts regarding Juliette’s House and handouts regarding specific
training programs on how to prevent, recognize, and react responsibly to child abuse. She
encouraged City Councilors to participate in the child abuse training programs, since they are all
mandatory reporters, and could arrange to have the training during a City Council Work Session
if needed.

3



Carol Joa provided statistical information detailing that in 2021 Yamhill County reported 115 
child abuse cases. Sexual abuse was the most under reported type of child abuse because the 
child does not realize that these experiences are not normal and often the abuser is a trusted 
family member. 

Katie Bowman encouraged the City Council to sign the Proclamation, proclaiming April as 
National Child Abuse Prevention Month. She provided ideas on how to spread awareness, such 
as placing blue and silver pinwheels throughout the community that represented Child Abuse 
Prevention Awareness, social media shares, newsletters, and blue ribbons to tie on trees. 

Carol Joa noted that she was delighted to see that Dayton had participated in the Child Abuse 
Prevention Awareness month by tying blue ribbons around trees in the community. She said this 
year they were hoping to see communities participate in spreading Child Abuse Prevention 
Awareness by displaying a blue and silver pinwheel garden. 

KITTY MACKIN MOVED TO APPROVE RESOLUTION 22/23-10, 
A RESOLUTION DECLARING APRIL 2023 AS NATIONAL 
CHILD ABUSE PREVENTION MONTH. SECONDED BY 
ANDREW HILDEBRANDT. Motion carried with Frank, Mackin, 
Maguire, Wildhaber, Hildebrandt and Marquez voting aye.  

2. FY 21-22 Audit Presentation, Devan Esch, Grove, Mueller & Swank, P.C.

Rochelle Roaden, City Manager, stated that Deven Esch, a partner, with Grove, Mueller
& Swank, P.C. was invited to do the City Audit Presentation. He was expected to remote
in via Zoom, however, Deven Esch did not attend the meeting.

The FY 21-22 Audit Presentation with Devan Esch, Grove, Mueller & Swank, P.C. would
need to be rescheduled.

3. Awarding of Inflow and Infiltration Study – Keller & Associates

Rochelle Roaden explained that at the February 6th meeting, the Council had approved
awarding the Inflow and Infiltration Study to Keller and Associates with a not to exceed
amount of $38,000. The study was a requirement from the Department of Environmental
Equality (DEQ) in response to the city’s NPDES permit violation.

The city became aware after the February 6th meeting that DEQ would only accept the
results of the annual smoke testing that the city had completed after 2019. The revised scope
included two additional basins which added $4,750 to Keller’s estimate of $34,490 for a
total of $39,240. This amount was over $38,000 and the city needed Council approval for
the additional amount. A 10% additional contingency was being added onto the updated
project total.

The City has funds to cover the cost of the test in the Sewer Utility Capital Fund and was
hopeful to receive a $20,000 grant through Business Oregon so the total cost would be
$23,164.

4



ANNETTE FRANK MOVED TO APPROVE AWARDING THE INFLOW 
AND INFILTRATION STUDY REQUIRED BY THE DEPARTMENT OF 
ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY TO KELLER AND ASSOCIATES WITH A 
NOT TO EXCEED AMOUNT OF $43,164.  SECONDED BY KITTY 
MACKIN. Motion carried with Frank, Mackin, Maguire, Wildhaber, Hildebrandt 
and Marquez voting aye.  

4. OLCC Annual Liquor License Renewal

Rochelle Roaden explained that each year pursuant to ORS 471.166 a person applying
for issuance or renewal of a liquor license through the Oregon Liquor Control Commission,
is required to seek approval from the local government with jurisdiction and must
pay an application fee, in an amount determined by the governing body of the city or
county, for each application, not to exceed $25.00 per application.

Notices to renew annual liquor licenses were mailed to all eligible businesses in
Dayton, on January 12, 2023, asking those businesses to respond by February 10, 2023. As
of February 28, 2023, all businesses had complied and the $25.00 per application had been paid.

Per OLCC, governing bodies had until March 10th to make a recommendation and
Rochelle Roaden listed several examples of recommendations.

Rochelle Roaden stated that for informational purposes, a list of incidences that involved alcohol
had been included for the Council’s review.

Council President Maguire stated that the number of incidents at the Bypass had gone up
significantly and wanted to keep an eye on that.

Councilor Hildebrandt inquired if the incidents outlined in the report were directly related to
the specific location.

Rochelle Roaden stated that the incidents were related to each specific location.

5. Approval of City Council Strategic Goals for FY 23-24

Rochelle Roaden stated that at the February 21st City Council Work Session, the City Council
discussed their 2023-2024 Strategic Plan Goals. The Council discussed previous goals, made
modifications, and added new goals.

A red-line version of the FY 22-23 goals showing the goals that were completed, changed, and
added was included, along with a final draft of the FY 2023-2024 Strategic Goals.

5



ANNETTE FRANK MOVED TO APPROVE THE CITY COUNCIL 
STRATIEGIC PLAN GOALS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2023-2024. 
SECONDED BY KITTY MACKIN. Motion carried with Frank, 
Mackin, Maguire, Wildhaber, Hildebrandt and Marquez voting aye.  

F. CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS/CONCERNS

Councilor Mackin stated that she signed up for the League of Oregon Cities Spring Conference.
She was pleased to announce that she felt there were adequate ADA accommodations that
she had requested.

Councilor Makin inquired that if it was okay for her to voice her specific ADA questions and
concerns while representing the City.

Rochelle Roaden referred to the City of Dayton Council Rules and reviewed section 7, specifically
section 7.1 regarding Councilor Conduct Representing the City which addressed Councilor Makin’s
questions.

Councilor Mackin stated that there was a very steep area located next to a rectangular utility box across
the street that should be fixed.

Councilor Hildebrandt stated he had safety concerns regarding the Dayton Landing and asked if the
city could install security cameras.

Rochelle Roaden stated that installing security cameras to property that the city did not own would
not be the most feasible, however, he could provide her with his specific concerns, and she would
communicate those concerns to the Yamhill County Parks Manager, the Deputy, and Sheriff.

G. INFORMATION REPORTS

City Manager’s Report

Rochelle Roaden stated that the U.S. Senate opened their submission process earlier than had
expected and application deadlines were March 3rd.  In order to meet the additional workload she had
been working additional hours to get the work done and was not able to get the City Manager’s
Report done for the last few weeks.

Three projects under the Congressional Direct Spending had been submitted. The first one was the
Water Transmission Line Replacement, a $2.9 million project and we requested $2.36 million
in funds. The second one was for the Main Basin Sewer Replacement (I & I Mitigation), a $3.5 million
project and we are requesting $2.95 million. The third one was for Dayton Civic Center for 7700 square
foot facility for a City Hall, Library, and Council Chambers and that was a $3.8 million project and
$2.8 million was requested.

A congratulation letter from DEQ had been received, regarding the work for the DEQ Clean Water State
Revolving Fund Loan. Two permits that required public comment would be completed by March 10th.

6



The Dayton Utility Bridge Main Span Replacement Pre-Construction meeting has been scheduled for 
March 31st. 

Tree removal has already occurred to stay in compliance with Migratory Bird Act and mobilization was 
currently planned for May. 

Rochelle Roaden stated that she and Mayor Marquez met with the School Superintendent, Steve Sugg, 
and discussed their new Agricultural Building they would be putting in off 8th Street. The city’s 
replanning of 8th Street was also discussed, which was scheduled for next summer. A predesign meeting 
with their engineers and our engineer was going to be scheduled. 

Municipal Court was going to be cancelled for March and April due to our current Judge having health 
issues. Judge Larry Blake, who is the current municipal Judge for Newberg, Carlton, and Amity had 
been recommended by our current Judge Mahr. We met with Judge Blake last week and would be 
bringing a professional services agreement to the council at future City Council Meeting as the 
municipal Judge must be approved by the City Council.  

The Fiscal Year 23-24 Budget Council Meeting timelines were reviewed. May 1st would be the first 
City Council Regular Session Meeting where the Budget would be presented, May 15th would be the 
City Council Budget Work Session, and May 22nd City Council Work Session would only take place if 
needed. The Budget Calendar will be in the April City Council Agenda Packet. 

Josh Bilodeau is at the Oregon Association of Water Utilities annual seminar in Central Oregon. 

Rochelle Roaden stated that she would be attending the National League of Cities Conference 
on Infrastructure in Washington, DC March 23-29, 2023. And would also be on vacation 
April 14-28, 2023. 

The Tourism Economic Development position had been filled and would introduce 
him at the April 3rd City Council Meeting. 

H. ADJOURN

There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 7:21 p.m.

Respectfully submitted: APPROVED BY COUNCIL on April 03, 2023. 

□ As Written □ As Amended

By:   Melissa York 
City Recorder 

_____________________________ 
Trini Marquez, Mayor 

7



This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

8



���������	
����������������������������������������������������� !"# $%���&' �%()*+ +�,�-��$.��/012�3445163/1789:' ;<17<�/7�2=>?1//18@�/012�3445163/178�/7�/0A�����B�2A8C�/0A�67?45A/AC�3445163/178�/7� D+�*%#,*�.%E+!�(+� F%!� D+�)!+($�+G�,--!+���/7�7>/318�3�<A67??A8C3/1789H �I�/0A�4<A?12A2�2/<AA/�3CC<A22�12�J1/018�3�61/KL2�51?1/2B�/0A�57635�@7MA<8?A8/�12�/0A�61/K9H �I�/0A�4<A?12A2�2/<AA/�3CC<A22�12�87/�J1/018�3�61/KL2�51?1/2B�/0A�57635�@7MA<8?A8/�12�/0A�67=8/K9N' �755A6/�/0A�3445163/178�I<7?�/0A�57635�@7MA<8?A8/�,F +!�/0A�<A67??A8C3/178�032�>AA8�4<7M1CAC9O' �(,$*� D+�,))*$#, $%�� D, �#%� ,$��� D+�*%#,*�.%E+!�(+� �!+#%((+�-, $%��/7����9�1P=7<�16A82A445163/178Q�<A@789�7M9R' S%��% �1865=CA�38K�516A82A�IAA2�J1/0�K7=<�3445163/178�436TA/�UIAA2�J155�>A�6755A6/AC�3/�3�53/A<�/1?AV9�WXYZ[\]̂�\[_Y�\̀�abc�\XY�d[eYẐY�fYY�c̀g�_ĝ\�abc�\XY�fgdd�cYbhdc�fYY�f̀h�\XY�eghhYZ\�d[eYẐY�cYbh�i\XY�d[eYẐY�fYY�j[dd�Z̀\�kY�ah̀hb\Ylmnof�c̀g�abc�[Z�\XY�db̂\�pgbh\Yh�̀f�c̀gh�d[eYẐY�cYbh�c̀g�_ĝ\�bd̂̀�abc�\XY�cYbhdc�fYY�f̀h�\XY�ZYq\�d[eYẐY�cYbhn
�--$ $%�,*���F%!(, $%���))*$#,� ��-+� $F$#, $%�r�;5A32A�<AM1AJ����stuvwwxvwywz�I7<�/0A�CAI181/1782�7I�{34451638/|�38C�{516A82AA|�38C����stuvwwuvwyzz�/7�678I1<?�/03/�355�18C1M1C=352�7<�A8/1/1A2�J1/0�38�7J8A<2014�18/A<A2/�U7/0A<�/038�3�J31M3>5A�7J8A<2014�18/A<A2/B�4A<����stuvwwuvwyzz}x~V�18�/0A�>=218A22�03MA�>AA8�1CA8/1I1AC�32�516A82A�34451638/2�78�/012�C76=?A8/9��I�K7=�03MA�3�P=A2/178�3>7=/�J0A/0A<�38�18C1M1C=35�7<�A8/1/K�8AAC2�/7�>A�512/AC�32�38�34451638/�I7<�/0A�516A82AB�C126=22�/012�J1/0�/0A������2/3II�4A<278�3221@8AC�/7�K7=<�3445163/1789��!+($�+���--!+�����012�12�/0A�40K21635�5763/178�7I�/0A�>=218A22�38C�J0A<A�/0A�51P=7<�516A82A�J155�>A�472/AC9��))*$#,� ��$.�, "!+���r��360�18C1M1C=35�512/AC�1������������������������������������������UA8/1/K�7<�18C1M1C=352�3445K18@�I7<�/0A�516A82AV�?=2/�21@8�/0A�3445163/1789���I�38�34451638/��������������������������� �¡¢������£�¤�����������12�38�A8/1/K�U2=60�32�3�67<47<3/178�7<�51?1/AC�513>151/K�67?438KVB�3/�5A32/�78A�18C1M1C=35�J07�12�3=/07<1¥AC�/7�21@8�I7<�/0A�A8/1/K�?=2/�21@8�/0A�3445163/1789��))*$#,� ¦�$#+��++��+)!+�+� , $E+������8�7<CA<�/7�?3TA�6038@A2�/7�3�516A82A�7<�3445163/178�7<�/7�<A6A1MA�18I7<?3/178�3>7=/�3�516A82A�7<�3445163/178�>K�27?A78A�7/0A<�/038�/0A�34451638/§516A82AA�K7=�?=2/���H �7?45A/A�/0A�>A57J�=/07<1¥AC��A4<A2A8/3/1MA�3<A3�̈©�ª«¬�®�32�/0A�34451638/§516A82AA�̄°±²³́H ;<7M1CA�3�;7JA<�7I�//7<8AK�C76=?A8/�207J18@�/0A�4A<?1221782�3557J3>5A�78�/0A�>A035I�7I�/0A34451638/§516A82AA�J1/0�/012�2=>?122178µdYb̂Y�Z̀\Y�\Xb\�baad[ebZ\̂¶d[eYẐYŶ�bhY�hŶàẐ[kdY�f̀h�bdd�[Zf̀h_b\[̀Z�ah̀·[lYl�̀Z�\X[̂�f̀h_̧�Y·YZ�[f�bZ�bg\X̀h[¹Yl�hYahŶYZ\b\[·Y�̀h�[Zl[·[lgbd�j[\X�bg\X̀h[\c�̂[ºẐ�̀Z�kYXbdf�̀f�\XY�baad[ebZ\n�»7<�0A54�J1/0�/012�3445163/178�7<�38K�<A53/AC�C76=?A8/2�7<�4<76A22A2B�A?315�756693567075516A8218@Q7<A@789@7M9�

�$#+��+��+¼"+� ��) $%���½�µdYb̂Y�̂YY�\XY�ºYZYhbd�lYf[Z[\[̀Ẑ�̀f�\XY�d[eYẐY�hYpgŶ\�̀a\[̀Ẑ�kYd̀j¾�¿ �+À��" *+ r��0A�516A8218@�7I�3�>=218A22�/03/�C7A2�87/�6=<<A8/5K�075C�38�36/1MA�51P=7<�516A82A9¿ �D,�.+�%F��À�+!�D$)r��0A�<AP=A2/�/7�67?45A/A5K�6038@A�/0A�516A82AA�7I�<A67<C�3/�3�516A82AC�>=218A229¿ Á!+, +!��!$E$*+.+r��0A�<AP=A2/�/7�<A4536A�3��1?1/AC��8v;<A?12A2�235A2�516A82A�J1/0�3�»=55��8v;<A?12A2�235A2�516A82A9¿ �+��+!��!$E$*+.+r��0A�<AP=A2/�/7�<A4536A�3�»=55��8v;<A?12A2�235A2�516A82A�J1/0�3��1?1/AC��8v;<A?12A2�235A2�516A82A9¿ �--$ $%�,*��!$E$*+.+r��0A�516A82AA�6=<<A8/5K�075C2�38�36/1MA�51P=7<�516A82A�3/�/0A�4<A?12A2�38C�/03/�23?A�516A82AAJ7=5C�51TA�/7�<AP=A2/�/7�3CC�38�,--$ $%�,*�C1IIA<A8/�51P=7<�516A82A�/K4A�3/�/03/�23?A�4<A?12A2�5763/1789

9



����������	���
���������
��������������������

���� !���"#$%#�&''��"&(� $)*+,�-�./�0�"1234�567�899:;9:<857�=<>7?@7�:7AB7@5�;95<;?C�DE7F�GB5=75�H�D�I68?J7�;K�GF?7:@6<9�H�D�L:7857:�M:<N<=7J7�H�D�O7@@7:�M:<N<=7J7HD�PQQ<5<;?8=�M:<N<=7J7%2R23S�567�=<>7?@7�5T97�T;B�8:7�899=T<?J�K;:U�V;:7�<?K;:W85<;?�8X;B5�8==�=<>7?@7�5T97@�<@�8N8<=8X=7�;?=<?7U�YZRR� [\']2̂ _̀2̀�D�I;WW7:><8=D�I857:7:D�MBX=<>�M8@@7?J7:�I8::<7:D�G567:�MBX=<>�O;>85<;?D�a;:�M:;K<5�M:<N857�I=BXD�E;?9:;K<5�M:<N857�I=BXb_[2]c�D�M:<W8:T�=;>85<;?PQQ<5<;?8=�=;>85<;?@C�Dd?Q�De:Q�Df56�Dg56h]2i2]c�D�M:<W8:T�=;>85<;?PQQ<5<;?8=�=;>85<;?@C�Dd?Q�De:Qh]2i2]c\'ZjR_3�klZ̀2�D�M:<W8:T�=;>85<;?PQQ<5<;?8=�=;>85<;?@C�Dd?Q�De:Qm]li2]�%nR2̀�']_o_R2p2�D�M:<W8:T�=;>85<;?PQQ<5<;?8=�=;>85<;?@C�Dd?Q�De:Qq_̀S_RR2]c�M:<W8:T�=;>85<;?�PQQ<5<;?8=�58@5<?J�=;>85<;?@C�rd?Q�re:Q�rf56�rg56�rs56��_̂_S2t� [\']2̂ _̀2̀ uu�']2̂ _̀2̀bn]21lZ̀2b1lR2̀nR2�vnRS�h2o2]np2�n[t�b_[2

�$(#!$&���%#� $�w�xyz{|�}y~��������y������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ¡��¢�£¤¥¦§¦¢�̈�©ª�«¬¤��¦�ª� ®̄° ±²³®̄�³́µ¶·�©́®¶�̧́ ¹̧º́®±³�»¶º¶¼¶½·�¾¿ÀÁÂÃÄÅÆ�ÇÄÀÈ�ÉÀÄÊ¿
DË7>;WW7?Q�56<@�=<>7?@7�X7�J:8?57QDË7>;WW7?Q�56<@�=<>7?@7�X7�Q7?<7QÌ857�ÍÎÏÐÑÒÓ�ÔÕÖÒ�

×
××

10



����������	
�	���������
�������������

�������������� !"�#�� $������%%� $�� �����#��%"&� $�#�$�#'�(� )*++�* !"�#�* $�����,%%� $�� ���-.�/(�0121034�

�����
���
5��6����
��789:;<=�>?@�ABBCDEAF>G�ABBCHDFI�JKL�>?@�CDE@FG@M�N?DG�DG�>?@�@F>D>H�O@PAQBC@R�EKLBKLA>DKF�KL�SSTU�KL�DFVDWDVXACOGU�ABBCHDFI�JKL�>?@�CDE@FG@M�YC@AG@�AVV�AF�AVVD>DKFAC�BAI@�DJ�QKL@�GBAE@�DG�F@@V@VM�ZAQ@�KJ�@F>D>H�KL�DFVDWDVXAC�ABBCDEAF>�[\R� ZAQ@�KJ�@F>D>H�KL�DFVDWDVXAC�ABBCDEAF>�[]R�ZAQ@�KJ�@F>D>H�KL�DFVDWDVXAC�ABBCDEAF>�[̂R� ZAQ@�KJ�@F>D>H�KL�DFVDWDVXAC�ABBCDEAF>�[_R��̀��
	����
5��6����
��ab78�
bc8�KJ�>?@�dXGDF@GG�OFAQ@�EXG>KQ@LG�eDCC�G@@URa8c;f8f�f:a88:�b77a8ff�ON?@�B?HGDEAC�CKEA>DKF�KJ�>?@�gXGDF@GG�AFV�e?@L@�>?@�CDhXKL�CDE@FG@�eDCC�g@�BKG>@VURTD>HR� iDB�TKV@R� TKXF>HR�dXGDF@GG�B?KF@�FXQg@LR� dXGDF@GG�@QADCR�j̀f;98ff�cb;k;9l�b77a8ff�-mn�#��m��m ������'���o� ��p��&o�p� �����'��$# &�'� ��),.�qrstuurtuuvswxy(4��TD>HR� z>A>@R� iDB�TKV@R�{�����n��&"� ������''#����$"##����o�n�/�����)*++�� !"�#�� $����|�}�~���}���� {�����n��&"� ������''#����$"##����o�n�/�����)*++�p�# �"����� $����|�}�~���}������������	���	�	�	
�����	�����CDhXKL�ABBCDEAF>�KL�CDE@FG@@�QAH�IDW@�A�L@BL@G@F>A>DW@�AX>?KLD�A>DKF�>K�QA�@�E?AFI@G�>K�>?@�CDE@FG@�KL�ABBCDEA>DKF�KF�g@?ACJ�KJ�>?@�CDE@FG@@�KL�>K�L@E@DW@�DFJKLQA>DKF�AgKX>�A�CDE@FG@�KL�ABBCDEA>DKFM���l;�8��8ac;ff;�9�<�a�:�8��8k���9bc87�a8�a8f89:b:;�8�:���}�A�@�E?AFI@G�L@IALVDFI�>?DG�CDE@FG@�ABBCDEA>DKF�KF�QH�g@?ACJM}�@E@DW@�DFJKLQA>DKF�AgKX>�>?@�G>A>XG�KJ�>?DG�ABBCDEA>DKF��DFECXVDFI�DFJKLQA>DKF�AgKX>�B@FVDFI�EKQBCDAFE@AE>DKF�KL�EKQQXFDEA>DKFG�g@>e@@F��STT�AFV�>?@�CDE@FG@@�ABBCDEAF>M�8�a8f89:b:;�8�
bc8��Y?KF@�FXQg@LR� �QADCR��ADCDFI�AVVL@GGR�TD>HR� z>A>@R� iDB�TKV@R�

���������������������  ¡ �¢£¤¥¦�§̈��©�ª«�̈ «̈¬©«�� ®̄°°± ²³́ �µµ¶¥¤·̧¶̄·¤̄±¹ ̈«ºµ�³»�«¼́ �̈½¼�³�½�½�¾�¿�°¶°®�£¼£�����µµ̈ ��̈À�� ®̄°¹̧Á Á

11



����������	
�	���������
�������������

��������������� !" �#$$%��&'��!�() *+�,-.-,/0�

��������
���
������
1��2���
�3�456789:�;<:�=68>;�6?�@6>;A@;�?65�;<8B�A==C8@A;86>D�E?�;<8B�8>98789FAC�8B�>6;�A>A==C8@A>;�65�C8@:>B::G�;<:�HF;<658I:9�J:=5:B:>;A;87:�B:@;86>�KFB;�L:�?8CC:9�8>�A>9�;<:�A==56=58A;:�=:5K8BB86>MBN�KFB;�L:�B:C:@;:9D��OOPQRSTQUV��UVTSRT�
SWXY�4<6>:�>FKL:5Z� [KA8CZ��	�2��\�]J:AC�=56=:5;̂_�K:A>B�;<:�5:AC�:B;A;:�MCA>9N�A>9�̀:>:5ACĈ�a<A;:7:5�8B�:5:@;:9�65�A??8b:9�;6�;<:�CA>9M?65�:bAK=C:G�;<:�LF8C98>̀N�A;�;<:�LFB8>:BB�A995:BBD\�]c6KK6>�A5:A_�8B�A�=587A;:Ĉ�6a>:9�A5:A�a<:5:�;a6�65�K65:�=A5;8:B�M=56=:5;̂�;:>A>;BN�<A7:=:5K8BB86>�;6�FB:�;<:�A5:A�8>�@6KK6>D�[bAK=C:B�8>@CF9:�;<:�aACd8>̀�A5:AB�L:;a::>�B;65:B�A;�AB<6==8>̀�@:>;:5G�C6LL8:BG�<ACCaÂBG�=A;86BG�=A5d8>̀�C6;BG�:;@D�H>�A5:AeB�9:B8̀>A;86>�AB�A�]@6KK6>�A5:A_8B�;̂=8@ACĈ�89:>;8?8:9�8>�;<:�C:AB:�65�5:>;AC�À5::K:>;D���	������
�3��f
	��g���
h���
������1��g	�i���
	����
h��	2��	��\�[A@<�A==C8@A>;�C8B;:9�8>�;<:�]H==C8@A;86>�E>?65KA;86>_�B:@;86>�6?�;<8B�?65K�<AB�5:A9�A>9�F>9:5B;A>9BjHJ�klmnoomnopqq�A>9�A;;:B;B�;<A;ZqDH;�C:AB;�6>:�A==C8@A>;�C8B;:9�8>�;<:�]H==C8@A;86>�E>?65KA;86>_�B:@;86>�6?�;<8B�?65K�<AB�;<:�C:̀AC�58̀<;�;66@@F=̂�A>9�@6>;56C�;<:�5:AC�=56=:5;̂�=56=6B:9�;6�L:�C8@:>B:9�AB�B<6a>�L̂�A�=56=:5;̂�9::9G�C:AB:G5:>;AC�À5::K:>;G�65�B8K8CA5�96@FK:>;DrDs6�=:5B6>�>6;�C8B;:9�AB�A>�A==C8@A>;�8>�;<:�]H==C8@A;86>�E>?65KA;86>_�B:@;86>�6?�;<8B�?65K�<AB�A>6a>:5B<8=�8>;:5:B;�8>�;<:�LFB8>:BB�=56=6B:9�;6�L:�C8@:>B:9G�F>C:BB�;<:�=:5B6>�tFAC8?8:B�;6�<A7:�;<A;6a>:5B<8=�8>;:5:B;�aA87:9�F>9:5�jHJ�klmnoomnopqqDpDu<:�C8@:>B:9�=5:K8B:B�A;�;<:�=5:K8B:B�B;5::;�A995:BB�=56=6B:9�;6�L:�C8@:>B:9�:8;<:5ZADv6:B�>6;�8>@CF9:�A>̂�@6KK6>�A5:ABw�65LDv6:B�8>@CF9:�6>:�65�K65:�@6KK6>�A5:ABw�<6a:7:5G�6>Ĉ�;<:�A==C8@A>;MBN�<A7:�;<:�:b@CFB87:�58̀<;;6�:>̀À:�8>�AC@6<6C�BAC:B�A>9�B:578@:�8>�;<:�A5:A�;6�L:�8>@CF9:9�AB�=A5;�6?�;<:�C8@:>B:9�=5:K8B:BD\ E>�;<8B�@85@FKB;A>@:G�;<:�A==C8@A>;MBN�A@d>6aC:9̀:B�5:B=6>B8L8C8;̂�?65�:>BF58>̀�@6K=C8A>@:a8;<�C8tF65�CAaB�a8;<8>�A>9�8>�;<:�8KK:98A;:�78@8>8;̂�6?�;<:�C8@:>B:9�=5:K8B:BG�8>@CF98>̀�8>=65;86>B�6?�;<:�=5:K8B:B�;<A;�A5:�B8;FA;:9�8>�]@6KK6>�A5:AB_�A>9�;<A;�;<8B�5:tF85:K:>;A==C8:B�A;�ACC�;8K:BG�:7:>�a<:>�;<:�LFB8>:BB�8B�@C6B:9DlDu<:�C8@:>B:9�=5:K8B:B�A;�;<:�=5:K8B:B�B;5::;�A995:BB�:8;<:5ZADxAB�>6�A5:A�6>�=56=:5;̂�@6>;56CC:9�L̂�A�=FLC8@�:>;8;̂�MC8d:�A�@8;̂G�@6F>;̂G�65�B;A;:Nw�65LDxAB�6>:�65�K65:�A5:AB�6>�=56=:5;̂�@6>;56CC:9�L̂�A�=FLC8@�:>;8;̂�MC8d:�A�@8;̂G�@6F>;̂G�65�B;A;:N�A>9;<:�=FLC8@�:>;8;̂�<AB�̀87:>�A;�C:AB;�6>:�6?�;<:�A==C8@A>;MBN�=:5K8BB86>�;6�:b:5@8B:�;<:�=5878C:̀:B�6?;<:�C8@:>B:�8>�;<:�A5:AD

yz{|}~�������z������������� ���~z����~��z�z�����{�z����{

12



����������	
�	���������
������������

���������������� !��"##$��%&�� �'(�)*�+,-,+./�

0�1234�255673289�67:9;<�78�94;�=>55673297?8�@8A?BC297?8D�:;397?8�?A�947:�A?BC�42:�B;2<�28<�E8<;B:928<:F>G�HIJKLLMKLNMO�28<�299;:9:�9429PQRS5?8�673;8:EB;T�;234�673;8:;;�7:�B;:5?8:7U6;�A?B�94;�3?8<E39�?A�?94;B:�?8�94;�673;8:;<�5B;C7:;:T7836E<78V�78�?E9<??B�2B;2:RORW4;�673;8:;<�5B;C7:;:�X766�U;�3?89B?66;<�9?�5B?C?9;�5EU673�:2A;9Y�28<�5B;Z;89�5B?U6;C:�28<Z7?6297?8:T�X794�52B973E62B�;C542:7:�?8�5B;Z;8978V�C78?B:�AB?C�?U927878V�?B�3?8:EC78V�263?4?673U;Z;B2V;:T�5B;Z;8978V�?Z;BK:;BZ73;�?A�263?4?673�U;Z;B2V;:T�5B;Z;8978V�?5;8�3?89278;B:�?A�263?4?673U;Z;B2V;:�AB?C�6;2Z78V�94;�673;8:;<�5B;C7:;:�E86;::�266?X;<�UY�F[\\�BE6;:T�28<�5B;Z;8978V�8?7:YT<7:?B<;B6YT�28<�E862XAE6�2397Z79Y�?8�94;�673;8:;<�5B;C7:;:R@�299;:9�9429�266�28:X;B:�?8�266�A?BC:�28<�<?3EC;89:T�28<�266�78A?BC297?8�5B?Z7<;<�9?�94;�F[\\�2:�2�52B9�?A�947:�255673297?8T�2B;�9BE;�28<�3?C56;9;R�]B789�82C;� 7̂V829EB;� _29;� >99YR�̀2B�@8A?�a7A�2556732U6;b�]B789�82C;� 7̂V829EB;� _29;� >99YR�̀2B�@8A?�a7A�2556732U6;b�]B789�82C;� 7̂V829EB;� _29;� >99YR�̀2B�@8A?�a7A�2556732U6;b�]B789�82C;� 7̂V829EB;� _29;� >99YR�̀2B�@8A?�a7A�2556732U6;b�
cdefghij�klmmdn opqprsro

13



This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

14



18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23
Dayton FFA 600$           -$            -$  600$  
Dayton Food Bank -$                 7,500$        -$  -$  3,500$        
Dayton Volunteer FireFighters -$                 -$  -$  2,000$        -$            
DHS Cheer 300$           400$           -$            -$  -$            
Homeward Bound Pets 867$           1,300$        4,500$        2,000$        -$            
VFW Post -$                 -$  1,000$        -$  -$            
Yamhill Community Action Partnership -$                 -$  -$  -$  -$            
Your Community Mediators 1,600$        3,000$        4,000$        -$            -$            
Total 3,367$        12,200$      9,500$        4,600$        3,500$        

22/23 Approved Budget Community Giving 15,000$      
Spent YTD 3,500$        
Remaining Balance 11,500$      

Requested Donations         Dayton FFA 600$           
Dayton Firefighters 2,000$        
Remaining balance 8,900$        

City of Dayton
Community Giving Donations

15



This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

16



Name of Organization/Group: Dayton FFA

Mailing Address: 801 Ferry Street

Contact Person: Mitch Coleman Phone #:  Cell (503) 434-3652

Email Address: mitch.coleman@dayton.k12.or.us

Date of City Council Meeting you will be attending: April 3rd

Name of representative attending Council Meeting: Mia Garcia & Mitch Coleman

Check should be made out to: Dayton FFA Date Donation is needed: April

Amount Requested: $ $600.00 Number of Citizens who will benefit: 400 - 500

o 0 - 10 o 51 - 100

o 11 - 25 o101 - 200

o 26 - 50  X 201 +

Of the number of citizens who will benefit from this donation, what percentage are Dayton residents?:80 to 90%

How will the donated funds be used? (Be specific & Itemize dollar amounts)

The funds will be used to help purchase prizes, eggs, flyers and any other expenses involved in putting on the 

annual Easter Egg Hunt in the Dayton City Park on April 8th.

Will your project or event create excess funds? o Yes  X No What will they be used for? NA

Fundraising Goal Amount? $1,000 Fundraising amount earned to date: $500

Please list all fundraising planned & estimate projected amounts to be earned:

 The FFA is providing money to help buy the eggs for the hunt, which is about $500.00 and we are providing 

all of the manpower to carryout the event itself. We have made the money that we will using through plant 

sales and firewood sales during the year. The total for hosting the easter Egg Hunt and coloring contest is 

About $1000.00

City of Dayton - PO Box 339 - 416 Ferry Street - Dayton OR 97114 - (503) 864-2221

Fundrasising
50% of your total fundraising goal amount must be raised by the date of this application

3   The Dayton City Council meets on the first Monday of each month. Date Received:

# of CitizensDayton City 

Council reserves 

the right to 

amend amounts 

to be donated.

Request Amount

$400

$500

By Council

Request Amount

$300

# of Citizens

$100

$200

Group/Organization Contact Information

Request Information

City of Dayton

REQUEST FOR DONATION
3 Please answer all questions, incomplete answers may cause your request to be denied.

3 Donation Requests must be received 60 days before the event or project date.

3 Requests need to be submitted by the 20th day of the month prior to the City Council Meeting date.

17

mailto:mitch.coleman@dayton.k12.or.us


How does your project or event benefit or bring honor to the Dayton Community?

400- 500 children from Dayton and the surrounding area come to the park in downtown Dayton each year

to participate in the annual Easter Egg Hunt. Each one of these children and their parents see our beautiful 

City Park and are happy that they got a chance to be involved in the event. The Easter Egg Hunt leaves a 

positive memory in the participant’s mind about Dayton and the people who live here.

Why do you think the Council should honor your request?

We have been working with the Dayton City Council for the last 30 years to sponsor the annual 

Easter Egg Hunt in the Park. We have been trying to improve the Easter Egg Hunt every year and increase

the size and participation from the community members. The hunt has been successful because we have been

working together to create something good for everyone.

Are there any unique or special things about your request or your project that you feel might assist

the City Council in making a decision?

This is a project that lots of children in the area look forward to each year and is a good thing for 

everyone involved. We are also doing a coloring contest for the youth in the area, which helps promote the 

Easter Egg Hunt and your involvement. We take coloring contest to all of the local preschools in the area to 

promote the event.

How & when do you plan to advise City Council on how their donation was used & the results of your event?

We can bring pictures of the Easter Egg Hunt to a city Council Meeting and present the results of the event.

We will also promote the Easter Egg Hunt in the News Register and on the radio stations in the area.

Is your Group or Organization willing to do a volunteer project? X Yes  o No

List the volunteer projects you are willing to complete & the date they can be completed by:

We do the Easter Egg Hunt and continue to develop the Palmer Creek Nature Trail every year. We also do 

several food drives during the year and are more than happy to help the City Council and the city of  Dayton

in any way we can. 

Date Application Received: Council Meeting Review Date:

Requested Funds Date:

Date Application Approved: Amount Approved:

Date results are to be reported: Date results were reported:

Volunteer Project Required: o Yes  o No Date of Volunteer Project:

Type of Volunteer Project:

Date Volunteer Project Completed:

PO Box 339 - 416 Ferry Street - Dayton OR 97114
Ph# (503) 864-2221 - Fax # (503) 864-2956 - Email: cityofdayton@daytonoregon.gov - Website: daytonoregon.gov

Office/City Council Use

Benefits of your Event or Project?

18



19



20



To: Honorable Mayor and City Councilors 

From:   Rochelle Roaden, City Manager 

Issue:  FY21-22 Audit Presentation – Devan Esch, Grove, Mueller, and Swank 

Date:   April 3, 2023 

Background and Information 

The City’s audit for Fiscal Year (FY) 2021-2022 was completed in the fall of 2022. Financials are 
included in this packet for your review.  

Devan Esch, with Grove, Mueller, and Swank, will attend to summarize the City’s audit and answer 
any questions the City Council may have.  

Unless there are any unresolved issues the City Council has with the audit, the City Council will need 
to move to accept the Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Financial Statements. 

City Manager Recommendation: I recommend accepting the Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Financial 
Statements. 

Potential Motion to Approve: “I move to accept the Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Financial Statements.” 

Council Options: 

1 – Accept the Financial Statement for FY 2021-2022.  

2 – Take no action and direct staff to bring further information back to the City Council at a later date. 

21



This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

22



CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 

23



CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
CITY OFFICIALS 
JUNE 30, 2022 

Name and Address Position Term Expires 

Beth Wytoski  Mayor December 31, 2022 

Rosalba Sandoval-Perez Council President December 31, 2022 

Daniel Holbrook Council Member December 31, 2022 

Kitty Mackin  Council Member December 31, 2024 

Trini Marquez  Council Member December 31, 2024 

Jim Maguire Council Member December 31, 2022 

Annette Frank  Council Member December 31, 2024 

Council members receive mail at the City’s address 

Appointed Officials 

Rochelle Roaden 
City Manager 
P.O. Box 339 

Dayton, Oregon 97114 

Heather Martin/Paul Elsner, Beery, Elsner & Hammond, LLP 
City Attorneys * 

City of Newberg  
Building Official * 

Denny Muchmore, Westech Engineering 
City Engineer * 

Keil Jenkins, Mid-Willamette Valley Council of Governments 
City Planner * 

*Contracted Services 

24



CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 
FINANCIAL SECTION 

Independent Auditor’s Report 1-3 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 4-9 
Basic Financial Statements 

Government–wide Financial Statements 
Statement of Net Position (Modified Cash Basis) 10 

 Statement of Activities (Modified Cash Basis) 11 
Fund Financial Statements 

Balance Sheet – Governmental Funds-(Modified Cash Basis) 12 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 
 Governmental Funds (Modified Cash Basis) 13 
Statement of Fund Net Position – Proprietary Funds (Modified Cash Basis) 14 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position – Proprietary Funds 
(Modified Cash Basis) 15 
Statement of Cash Flows – Proprietary Funds (Modified Cash Basis) 16 

Notes to Basic Financial Statements 17-30

Supplementary Information 
Governmental Funds 

Reconciliation of Budgetary Funds to Reporting Funds – General Fund 
 Balance Sheet (Budgetary Basis) 31 
Reconciliation of Budgetary Funds to Reporting Funds – General Fund 
 Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance (Budgetary Basis) 32 
Combining Balance Sheet – Nonmajor Governmental Funds 33 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances  

– Nonmajor Governmental Funds 34 
Schedules of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance (Budgetary Basis) – 
 Budget and Actual 

General Fund  35 
State Revenue Sharing Fund 36 
Transient Lodging Tax Fund 37 
Local Option Tax Fund 38 
American Rescue Act Fund 39 
Street Fund   40 
Street Capital Projects Fund 41 
Building Reserve Fund 42 
Park Capital Projects Fund 43 
Equipment Replacement Reserve Fund 44 

Proprietary Funds 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances –  
 Water Operations  45 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance (Budgetary Basis) – 
 Budget and Actual 

Water Utility Fund 46 
  Water Utility Capital Fund 47 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances –  
 Sewer Operations 48 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance (Budgetary Basis) – 
 Budget and Actual 

Sewer Fund   49 
Sewer Utility Capital Fund 50 
Debt Service Fund 51 

25



CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued) 

Page 
COMPLIANCE SECTION 

Independent Auditor’s Report Required by Oregon State Regulations 52-53

26



FINANCIAL SECTION

27



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
City of Dayton 
Dayton, Oregon  

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

We have audited the modified cash basis financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, and each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Dayton (the City) as of 
and for the year ended June 30, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise 
the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective modified cash basis financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City as of June 30, 2022, and the respective 
changes in financial position-modified cash basis and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended 
in accordance with the modified cash basis of accounting described in the summary of significant accounting 
policies in the notes to the financial statements. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
(GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the City and to meet 
our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinions. 

Emphasis of Matter — Basis of Accounting 

We draw attention to the notes to financial statements, which describes the basis of accounting. The financial 
statements are prepared on the modified cash basis of accounting, which is a basis of accounting other than 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinions are not modified with 
respect to this matter. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
the modified cash basis of accounting described in the notes to the financial statements, and for determining that the 
modified cash basis of accounting is an acceptable basis for the preparation of the financial statements in the 
circumstances. Management is also responsible for the design, implementation, and maintenance of 
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

28



- 2 -

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they 
would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.  

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:  

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or

error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the City’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control–related matters that we 
identified during the audit.  

Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise 
the City's basic financial statements. Management’s discussion and analysis and the supplementary information, 
which are the responsibility of management, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not required 
parts of the basic financial statements. 

The supplementary information as listed in the table of contents is the responsibility of management and was 
derived from, and relates directly to, the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic 
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in 
relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

Management's discussion and analysis has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on such 
information. 

29



 

- 3 - 

 
Other Reporting Required by Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
Reporting Required by Oregon Minimum Standards 
 
In accordance with Minimum Standards for Audits of Oregon Municipal Corporations, we have issued our report 
dated December 21, 2022, on our consideration of the City’s compliance with certain provisions of laws and 
regulations, including the provisions of Oregon Revised Statutes as specified in Oregon Administrative Rules. The 
purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of compliance and the results of that testing and not to 
provide an opinion on compliance. 
 

 

 

      GROVE, MUELLER & SWANK, P.C. 
      CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 
 
 
 
      By:   
       Devan W. Esch, A Shareholder 
 December 21, 2022 

30



- 4 -

City of Dayton, Oregon 

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022 

The management of the City of Dayton, Oregon presents this narrative overview and analysis to facilitate both a 
short and a long-term analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is based on currently known facts, decisions, and conditions that 
existed as of the date of the independent auditor’s report. Please read it in conjunction with the City’s financial 
statements which follow this section.  

Financial Highlights 

2022 2021 change

Net Position 5,150,713$   3,611,370$  1,539,343$   

Change in Net Position 1,539,343  261,389  1,277,954  

Governmental Net Position 1,832,357  1,663,577  168,780  

Proprietary Net Position 3,318,356  1,947,793  1,370,563  

Change in Governmental Net Position 168,780 24,487 144,293  

Change in Proprietary Net Position 1,370,563  236,902  1,133,661  

June 30,

Overview of the Financial Statements 

The following discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial 
statements and other information. The City’s basic financial statements are comprised of three components: 

1. Government-wide financial statements
2. Fund financial statements
3. Notes to the basic financial statements
4. Other information

Government-wide financial statements - The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide 
readers with a broad overview of the City's finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business. These 
statements include: 

The Statement of Net Position (Modified Cash Basis). The statement of net position presents information on all of 
the assets and liabilities of the City as of the date on the statement. Net position is what remains after the 
recognized liabilities have been paid off or otherwise satisfied. Over time, increases or decreases in net position 
may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating. 

The Statement of Activities (Modified Cash Basis). The statement of activities presents information showing how 
the net position of the City changed over the most recent fiscal year by tracking revenues, expenses and other 
transactions that increase or decrease net position in total. 

31



- 5 -

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally supported by 
taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to recover all 
or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental 
activities of the City include the following: 

• General Government
• Public Safety
• Public Works
• Community Development

The business-type activities of the City include the following: 

• Water Operations
• Sewer Operations

The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 9 through 10 of this report. 

Fund financial statements – The fund financial statements provide more detailed information about the City’s 
funds, focusing on its most significant or “major” funds – not the City as a whole. A fund is a grouping of related 
accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or 
objectives. The City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal 
requirements. All of the funds of the City can be divided into two categories: governmental funds and proprietary 
funds. 

Governmental funds - Governmental funds are used to account for activities where the emphasis is placed on 
available financial resources, rather than upon net income determination. Therefore, unlike the government-
wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on the acquisition and use of current 
spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such 
information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term requirements. 

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it 
is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for 
governmental activities in the government-wide financial decisions. By doing so, readers may better understand 
the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financial decisions. 

The City maintains nine individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the 
governmental funds Balance Sheet and in the governmental funds Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and 
Changes in Fund Balances for those funds that are considered significant (major) to the City taken as a whole. 
These financial statements report four major funds, the General, Transient Lodging Tax, Local Option Tax, and 
American Rescue Act funds. The State Revenue Sharing Fund has been combined with the General Fund for 
presentation purposes. Data from the other five governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated 
presentation. Individual fund data for each of these non-major governmental funds is provided as 
supplementary information in the form of combining statements. 

The governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 11 through 12 in the basic financial 
statements. 

The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for all governmental funds. To demonstrate compliance with the 
budget, budgetary comparison statements have been provided for the General Fund, Transient Lodging Tax 
Fund, Local Option Tax Fund, American Rescue Act Fund, Street Fund, Street Capital Projects Fund, Building 
Reserve Fund, Park Capital Projects Fund, and Equipment Replacement Fund. 

Proprietary funds - Proprietary funds are used to account for activities where the emphasis is placed on net 
income determination. All of the City’s proprietary funds are enterprise funds. Proprietary funds are used to 
report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements.  

32



- 6 -

The City uses proprietary funds to account for its water and sewer activity. 

The proprietary funds for Water Operations and Sewer Operations are considered to be major funds of the City 
and are reported separately in the proprietary financial statements in the basic financial statements.  

The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for each Proprietary fund. To demonstrate compliance with the 
budget, budgetary comparison statements have been provided for the proprietary funds as other supplementary 
information. 

The proprietary financial statements can be found on pages 14 through 16 in the basic financial statements. 

Notes to the basic financial statements - The notes provide additional information that is essential for a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. They are an integral 
part of the basic financial statements and should be read in conjunction with them. 

Other information - In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also 
presents certain supplementary information, including the budgetary comparison schedules, and the combining 
nonmajor fund financial statements. 

Government-Wide Financial Analysis 

Statement of Net Position (Modified Cash Basis) 

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's financial position. In the 
case of the City, assets exceeded liabilities by $5,150,713 at the close of fiscal year 2022. 

A portion of the City's net position, $2,833,513, or approximately 55%, represents resources that are subject to 
external restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining balance is net position - unrestricted totaling 
$2,317,200, or approximately 45%. 

Governmental Business-type Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Total Activities Activities Total

Current and other assets 1,833,376$   3,318,356$   5,151,732$   1,665,061$   1,947,793$   3,612,854$   

Other liabilities 1,019  - 1,019 1,484  - 1,484 

Net position:

Restricted 899,373     1,934,140  2,833,513  813,888     713,279  1,527,167  

Unrestricted 932,984     1,384,216  2,317,200  849,689     1,234,514  2,084,203  

Total Net Position 1,832,357$   3,318,356$   5,150,713$   1,663,577$   1,947,793$   3,611,370$   

2022 2021

33



- 7 -

Statement of Activities (Modified Cash Basis) 

The City's net position increased $1,539,343 during fiscal 2021-2022. This increase is explained in the government 
and business-type activities as follows: 

Governmental activities - The City's net position increased by $168,780 from governmental activities due to an 
increase in total revenues and a decrease in total expenses.   

 Business- Business-
Governmental  type Governmental type

Activities  Activities Total Activities Activities Total
Revenues

Program Revenues
Fees, fines and charges for services 94,878$     1,557,995$      1,652,873$      224,054$     1,498,929$      1,722,983$     
Operating grants and contributions 536,743     - 536,743  290,075   - 290,075.00  
Capital grants and contributions 156,161   1,570,330   1,726,491  179,730   248,222   427,952.00  

General Revenues
Property taxes 502,730   - 502,730  484,420   - 484,420.00  
Transient lodging taxes 81,600   - 81,600  68,255   - 68,255.00  
Franchise fees 114,835   - 114,835  108,223   - 108,223.00  
Intergovernmental 88,601   23,249   111,850  96,757   23,249   120,006.00  
Investment earnings 10,064   8,020   18,084  10,443   8,189   18,632.00  
Miscellaneous 9,782   4,078   13,860  7,930   4,449   12,379.00  

Total Revenues 1,595,394   3,163,672   4,759,066   1,469,887   1,783,038   3,252,925   

Expenses
General government 312,971   - 312,971  252,941   - 252,941  
Public safety 302,311   - 302,311  290,746   - 290,746  
Public works 537,628   - 537,628  704,397   - 704,397  
Community development 241,954   - 241,954  242,316   - 242,316  
Water - 950,395  950,395  - 1,022,533  1,022,533  
Sewer - 874,464  874,464  - 478,603  478,603   

Total Expenses 1,394,864   1,824,859   3,219,723   1,490,400   1,501,136   2,991,536   

Transfers (31,750)   31,750   -  45,000  (45,000)   -   

Change in Net Position 168,780   1,370,563   1,539,343   24,487   236,902   261,389   

Net Position, beginning of year 1,663,577   1,947,793   3,611,370   1,639,090   1,710,891   3,349,981   

Net Position, end of year 1,832,357$      3,318,356$       $     5,150,713 1,663,577$     1,947,793$      3,611,370$     

2022 2021

Major Governmental Funds: 

General. The General fund (reported as the combination of the General fund and the State Revenue Sharing fund) is 
the primary operating fund of the City. Fund balance was $411,655 at June 30, 2022. The fund balance decreased 
by $159,382 during the year mainly due to decreased licenses and permits revenue. 

As a measure of the fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare total fund balance to total fund expenditures. 
Fund balance represents 56% of total General fund expenditures.  

Transient Lodging Tax. The Transient Lodging Tax Fund accounts for revenues from the transient lodging tax. 
Expenditure are related to tourism promotion, tourism-related facilities and related administrative costs. The fund 
balance increased by $79,744 during the year as a result of prior transient lodging taxes that were collected in the 
current year.  

Local Option Tax. The Local Option Tax fund accounts for revenues and expenditures related to police services. 
The fund balance decreased by $30,187 as a result of revenues being nearly equal to expenses during the year. 

34



 

 
- 8 - 

American Rescue Act. The American Rescue Act Fund accounts for revenues received through the American 
Rescue Plan Act of 2021. The money is used to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic and its negative economic 
impacts. The fund balance increased by $184,320 as a result of the ARPA funds received.  
 
Business-type activities - The City's net position increased by $1,370,563 from business-type activities. This 
increase was due to increases in capital grants received. 
 
Major Proprietary Funds: 
 
Water Operations. Fund net position increased by $622,143 during the year due to increased capital grant revenues. 
 
Sewer Operations.  Fund net position increased by $730,670 as a result of decreased capital acquisitions and 
transfers to other funds. 
 
Debt Service. Fund net position increased by $17,750 as a result of decreased principal payments. 
 
Capital Assets and Debt Administration 
 
Capital Assets 
 
The City does not maintain historical cost and depreciation records for capital assets including infrastructure. 
Therefore, no information for capital assets is presented in the financial statements. 
 
Debt  
 
At the end of the current fiscal year, the City had a total of $4,445,865 in debt outstanding. 

 
The City's debt is for business-type activities and includes $2,224,724 in outstanding water system improvement 
loans from Oregon Business Development Department, and $2,221,141 in an outstanding USDA loan. The loans 
are paid from net revenues of the water and sewer systems. 
 
State statutes limit the amount of general obligation debt a government entity may issue up to 3 percent of its total 
assessed valuation. The City currently has no general obligation debt. 
 

2022 2021 
OBDD loans 2,224,724$   2,362,067$   
USDA loan 2,221,141     2,260,995     

4,445,865$   4,623,062$   

Business-type Activities

 
 

Additional information on the City's debt can be found in the notes to the basic financial statements. 
 
Current Year General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 
There was one supplemental budget adopted for the General fund during the current fiscal year which increased 
appropriations for Library, Planning, and Building capital expenditures. 
 
  

35



 

 
- 9 - 

Economic Factors and Next Year's Budgets and Rates 
 
During the preparation of the budget for the ensuing fiscal year, the long-term impacts of the local economy were 
examined in conjunction with business decisions made by the City. The following are the major assumptions used 
in developing the FY 2023 budget: 

 
• The City's population will not grow significantly in 2023. 
• The City's tax rate is estimated to be 100% of the City's permanent levy rate of $1.7057 for general 

operations and $1.85 for the local option tax levy. 
• Assessed values, the basis of property tax revenues, will grow to 3% due to market conditions. 
• Interest rates on investments will be similar to 2022. 

 
Requests for Information 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City's finances for those with an interest in the 
government's finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report should be addressed to 
Rochelle Roaden, City Manager at P.O. Box 339, Dayton, Oregon 97114. 

36



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37



The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
- 10 -

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION (MODIFIED CASH BASIS) 
JUNE 30, 2022 

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Totals

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 1,833,376$   3,318,356$   5,151,732$   

LIABILITIES

Payroll withholdings 1,019  -  1,019  

NET POSITION

Restricted for:
Debt service - 82,248 82,248  
Public safety 84,600  - 84,600 
Streets 515,027  - 515,027 
Community development 299,746  - 299,746 
Capital acquisitions - 1,755,467 1,755,467 
Customer deposits - 96,425 96,425  

Unrestricted 932,984  1,384,216 2,317,200  

Total Net Position 1,832,357$   3,318,356$   5,150,713$   

38



C
IT

Y
 O

F
 D

A
Y

T
O

N
, O

R
E

G
O

N
ST

A
TE

M
E

N
T 

O
F

 A
C

T
IV

IT
IE

S 
(M

O
D

IF
IE

D
 C

A
SH

 B
A

SI
S)

Y
E

A
R

 E
N

D
E

D
 J

U
N

E
 3

0,
 2

02
2

F
ee

s,
 F

in
es

O
pe

ra
ti

n
g

C
ap

it
al

 
an

d 
C

h
ar

ge
s

G
ra

n
ts

 a
n

d
G

ra
n

ts
 a

n
d

G
ov

er
n

m
en

ta
l

B
u

si
n

es
s-

ty
pe

E
xp

en
se

s
fo

r 
S

er
vi

ce
s

C
on

tr
ib

u
ti

on
s

C
on

tr
ib

u
ti

on
s

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s

A
ct

iv
it

ie
s

T
ot

al
F

U
N

C
T

IO
N

S/
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

S
G

ov
er

n
m

en
ta

l a
ct

iv
it

ie
s:

G
en

er
al

 g
ov

er
nm

en
t

31
2,

97
1

$ 
   

   
3,

02
6

$ 
  

   
 

30
4,

99
5

$ 
   

   
-

$ 
  

 
(4

,9
50

)
$

  
-

$ 
  

 
(4

,9
50

)
$

  
P

ub
li

c 
sa

fe
ty

30
2,

31
1

   
 

18
,9

21
   

-  
-  

(2
83

,3
90

)
  

- 
(2

83
,3

90
)

 
P

ub
li

c 
w

or
ks

53
7,

62
8

   
 

52
,5

64
   

21
7,

37
9

   
 

15
5,

66
1

   
 

(1
12

,0
24

)
  

- 
(1

12
,0

24
)

 
C

om
m

un
it

y 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t
24

1,
95

4
   

 
20

,3
67

   
14

,3
69

   
50

0
   

 
(2

06
,7

18
)

  
- 

(2
06

,7
18

)
 

T
ot

al
 G

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l a

ct
iv

iti
es

1,
39

4,
86

4
   

 
94

,8
78

   
53

6,
74

3
   

 
15

6,
16

1
   

 
(6

07
,0

82
)

  
- 

(6
07

,0
82

)
 

B
u

si
n

es
s-

ty
pe

 a
ct

iv
it

ie
s:

W
at

er
95

0,
39

5
   

 
1,

02
6,

21
4

   
 

- 
42

1,
51

0
 

- 
49

7,
32

9
 

49
7,

32
9

   
 

S
ew

er
87

4,
46

4
   

 
53

1,
78

1
   

 
- 

1,
14

8,
82

0
 

- 
80

6,
13

7
 

80
6,

13
7

   
 

T
ot

al
 B

us
in

es
s-

ty
pe

 a
ct

iv
it

ie
s

1,
82

4,
85

9
   

 
1,

55
7,

99
5

   
 

- 
1,

57
0,

33
0

 
- 

1,
30

3,
46

6
 

1,
30

3,
46

6
   

 

T
ot

al
 A

ct
iv

iti
es

3,
21

9,
72

3
$ 

   
1,

65
2,

87
3

$ 
   

53
6,

74
3

$ 
   

   
1,

72
6,

49
1

$ 
   

(6
07

,0
82

)
  

1,
30

3,
46

6
   

69
6,

38
4

   
 

G
en

er
al

 R
ev

en
u

es
:

P
ro

pe
rt

y 
ta

xe
s

50
2,

73
0

   
 

- 
50

2,
73

0
 

T
ra

ns
ie

nt
 lo

dg
in

g 
ta

xe
s

81
,6

00
   

- 
81

,6
00

 
F

ra
nc

hi
se

 ta
xe

s
11

4,
83

5
   

 
- 

11
4,

83
5

 
In

te
rg

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l

88
,6

01
   

23
,2

49
   

  
11

1,
85

0
 

In
ve

st
m

en
t e

ar
ni

ng
s

10
,0

64
   

8,
02

0
   

18
,0

84
 

M
is

ce
ll

an
eo

us
9,

78
2

   
  

4,
07

8
13

,8
60

 

T
ot

al
 G

en
er

al
 R

ev
en

ue
s

80
7,

61
2

   
 

35
,3

47
   

  
84

2,
95

9
   

 

T
ra

ns
fe

rs
(3

1,
75

0)
   

 
31

,7
50

   
  

-  

C
h

an
ge

 in
 n

et
 p

os
it

io
n

16
8,

78
0

   
 

1,
37

0,
56

3
   

1,
53

9,
34

3
   

 

N
et

 P
os

it
io

n
 -

 b
eg

in
n

in
g 

of
 y

ea
r

1,
66

3,
57

7
   

 
1,

94
7,

79
3

   
3,

61
1,

37
0

   
 

N
et

 P
os

it
io

n
 -

 e
n

d 
of

 y
ea

r
1,

83
2,

35
7

$ 
   

3,
31

8,
35

6
$ 

   
  

5,
15

0,
71

3
$ 

   

N
et

 (
E

xp
en

se
s)

 R
ev

en
u

es
 

P
ro

gr
am

 R
ev

en
u

es
an

d 
C

h
an

ge
s 

in
 N

et
 P

os
it

io
n

Th
e 

ac
co

m
pa

ny
in

g 
no

te
s 

ar
e 

an
 in

te
gr

al
 p

ar
t o

f t
he

 fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

.
-

11
 -

39



The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
- 12 -

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
BALANCE SHEET – GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (MODIFIED CASH BASIS) 
JUNE 30, 2022 

General
Transient 

Lodging Tax
Local Option 

Tax

American 
Rescue Plan 

Act

Other 
Governmental 

Funds Total
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 412,674$    391,687$    84,600$    184,320$    760,095$    1,833,376$     

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE
Liabilities

Payroll withholdings 1,019$    -$   -$  -$  -$  1,019$   

Fund Balance
Restricted for:

Public safety -  -  84,600  -  -  84,600  
Streets -  -  -  -  515,027  515,027  
Community development - 232,831 -  -  66,915  299,746  

Committed to:
Capital acquisitions -  -  -  -  178,153  178,153  
Community development - 158,856 -  -  -  158,856  

Unassigned 411,655  -  -  184,320  - 595,975 

Total Fund Balance 411,655  391,687  84,600  184,320  760,095  1,832,357  

Total Liabilities and Fund Balance 412,674$    391,687$    84,600$    184,320$    760,095$    1,833,376$     

Special Revenue

40



The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
- 13 -

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES  –  
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (MODIFIED CASH BASIS) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 

General Fund
Transient 

Lodging Tax
Local Option 

Tax

American 
Rescue Plan 

Act

Other 
Governmental 

Funds Total
REVENUES

Taxes and assessments 246,338$    81,600$    256,392$    -$   -$  584,330$   
Licenses and permits 170,424  -  -  - 6,125  176,549  
Intergovernmental 112,554  -  -  304,570  367,415  784,539  
Fines and forfeitures 104  - 9,336 -  -  9,440  
Miscellaneous 33,888  227  1,397 - 5,024 40,536  

Total Revenues 563,308  81,827  267,125  304,570  378,564  1,595,394  

EXPENDITURES

Current
 General government 250,845  -  -  -  -  250,845  
 Public safety -  -  301,695  -  -  301,695  
 Public works 194,291  -  -  -  57,385  251,676  
 Community development 291,054  2,083  -  -  57,970  351,107  

Capital acquisitions -  -  617  - 238,924 239,541  

Total Expenditures 736,190  2,083  302,312  - 354,279 1,394,864  

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) 
EXPENDITURES (172,882)  79,744  (35,187)  304,570  24,285  200,530  

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 38,500  - 5,000 - 171,000 214,500  
Transfers out (25,000)  - - (120,250)  (101,000) (246,250)  

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 13,500  - 5,000 (120,250)  70,000  (31,750)  

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (159,382)  79,744  (30,187)  184,320  94,285  168,780  

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 571,037  311,943  114,787  - 665,810 1,663,577  

FUND BALANCE, end of year 411,655$    391,687$    84,600$    184,320$    760,095$    1,832,357$     

Special Revenue

41



The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
- 14 -

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
STATEMENT OF FUND NET POSITION – PROPRIETARY FUNDS (MODIFIED CASH BASIS) 
JUNE 30, 2022 

Water
Operations

Sewer
Operations Debt Service Total

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1,533,082$     1,457,952$  327,322$   3,318,356$  

FUND NET POSITION

Restricted for:
Customer deposits 62,677$   33,748$   -$  96,425$   
Debt service -  -  82,248 82,248 
Capital acquisitions 756,793  998,674  - 1,755,467 

Unrestricted 713,612  425,530  245,074  1,384,216 

Total Fund Net Position 1,533,082$     1,457,952$  327,322$   3,318,356$  

42



The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
- 15 -

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION  – 
PROPRIETARY FUNDS (MODIFIED CASH BASIS) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 

 Water
Operations 

 Sewer
Operations Debt Service Total

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services 1,026,214$     531,781$   -$  1,557,995$     
Miscellaneous 2,430  1,648  - 4,078 

Total Operating Revenues 1,028,644  533,429 - 1,562,073 

OPERATING EXPENSES
Personal services 307,778 217,714 - 525,492 
Materials and services 251,423 148,276 - 399,699 

Total Operating Expenses 559,201 365,990 - 925,191 

OPERATING INCOME 469,443 167,439 - 636,882 

NONOPERATING REVENUES/EXPENSES
Intergovernmental 400,000 1,111,000  23,249  1,534,249  
Capital acquisitions (147,983)  (508,474)  - (656,457) 
Debt service

Principal -  -  (177,197)  (177,197) 
Interest -  -  (66,014)  (66,014) 

Interest revenue 3,673  2,635  1,712  8,020  

Total Nonoperating Revenues/Expenses 255,690 605,161 (218,250)  642,601 

NET INCOME BEFORE TRANSFERS 725,133 772,600 (218,250)  1,279,483  
AND CONTRIBUTIONS

Capital contributions 21,510  37,820  - 59,330 
Transfers in 55,500  31,250  236,000 322,750 
Transfers out (180,000)  (111,000)  - (291,000) 

CHANGE IN FUND NET POSITION 622,143 730,670 17,750  1,370,563  

FUND NET POSITION, beginning of year 910,939 727,282 309,572 1,947,793  

FUND NET POSITION (Deficit), end of year 1,533,082$     1,457,952$     327,322$   3,318,356$   

43



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
- 16 - 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS – PROPRIETARY FUNDS (MODIFIED CASH BASIS) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 

 
 

Water
Operations

Sewer
Operations Debt Service Total

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from customers 1,028,644$   533,429$      -$                1,562,073$   
Cash paid to employees and others for salaries and benefits (307,778)      (217,714)      -                  (525,492)      

Cash paid to suppliers and others (251,423)      (148,276)      -                  (399,699)      

   Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 469,443        167,439        -                  636,882        

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING
   ACTIVITIES

Transfers in 55,500         31,250         236,000        322,750        
Transfers out (180,000)      (111,000)      -                  (291,000)      

  Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Non-Capital (124,500)      (79,750)        236,000        31,750         

      Financing Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED 
   FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Intergovernmental revenue 400,000        1,111,000     23,249         1,534,249     
Purchase of capital assets (147,983)      (508,474)      -                  (656,457)      

Interest paid on debt -                  -                  (66,014)        (66,014)        

Principal paid on debt -                  -                  (177,197)      (177,197)      

Capital contributions 21,510         37,820         -                  59,330         

Net Cash Used for Capital and Related 273,527        640,346        (219,962)      693,911        
Financing Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 3,673           2,635           1,712           8,020           

  Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 622,143        730,670        17,750         1,370,563     

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, Beginning of year 910,939        727,282        309,572 1,947,793     

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, End of year 1,533,082$   1,457,952$   327,322$      3,318,356$   

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating income 469,443$      167,439$      -$                636,882$      

   Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 469,443$      167,439$      -$                636,882$      

44



- 17 -

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The City of Dayton, Oregon was incorporated in 1880 under the provisions of the Oregon Statutes. The City is 
governed by a city council and mayor who are responsible for rulemaking, budget preparation and enforcement, 
expenditure approval, and hiring of the City management personnel. The mayor and six council members are 
elected by vote of the general public.  

There are certain governmental agencies and various service districts which provide services within the City. 
These agencies have independently elected governing boards and the City is not financially accountable for these 
organizations. Therefore, financial information for these agencies is not included in the accompanying basic 
financial statements. 

As discussed further under Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting, these financial statements are presented 
on a modified cash basis of accounting, which is a basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB). These modified cash basis financial statements generally meet the presentation and disclosure 
requirements applicable to GAAP, in substance, but are limited to the elements presented in the financial 
statements and the constraints of the measurement and recognition criteria of the modified cash basis of 
accounting. 

Basic Financial Statements 

Basic financial statements are presented at both the government-wide and fund financial level. Both levels of 
statements categorize primary activities as either governmental or business-type. Governmental activities, 
which are normally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-
type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. 

Government-wide financial statements display information about the reporting government as a whole. For the 
most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. These statements focus on 
the sustainability of the City as an entity and the change in aggregate financial position resulting from the 
activities of the fiscal period. These aggregated statements consist of the Statement of Net Position (Modified 
Cash Basis) and the Statement of Activities (Modified Cash Basis). 

The Statement of Net Position (Modified Cash Basis) presents all the recorded assets and liabilities of the City. 
Net position, representing assets less liabilities, is shown in two components: restricted for special purposes, 
amounts which must be spent in accordance with legal restrictions; and unrestricted, the amount available for 
ongoing City activities. 

The Statement of Activities (Modified Cash Basis) demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a 
given function or segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable 
with a specific function or segment. Program revenues include (1) charges to customers or applicants who 
purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services or privileges provided by a given function or segment, 
and (2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a 
particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not properly included among program revenues are 
reported instead as general revenues. 

Fund financial statements display information at the individual fund level. Each fund is considered to be a 
separate accounting entity. Funds are classified and summarized as governmental, proprietary, or fiduciary. 
Currently, the City has governmental (general, special revenue and capital projects) and proprietary type 
(enterprise) funds. Major individual governmental funds, and major individual proprietary funds are reported 

45



- 18 -

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Basic Financial Statements (Continued) 

as separate columns in the fund financial statements. Non-major funds are consolidated into a single column 
within each fund type in the financial section of the basic financial statements and are detailed in the 
supplementary information.  

Basis of Presentation 

The financial transactions of the City are recorded in individual funds. Each fund is accounted for by providing 
a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprises its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues and 
expenditures/expenses. The various funds are reported by generic classification within the financial statements. 

Government accounting standards set forth minimum criteria (percentage of the assets, liabilities, revenues or 
expenditures/expenses of either fund category or the government and proprietary combined) for the 
determination of major funds.  

The City reports the following major governmental funds: 

General Fund 

This fund accounts for the financial operations of the City not accounted for in any other fund. Principal 
sources of revenues are property taxes, licenses and permits, franchise fees and State shared revenues. 
Primary expenditures are for general administration. 

State Revenue Sharing Fund 

This fund accounts for state fund resources and expenditures are for general operations. This fund is included 
with the General Fund for reporting purposes. 

Transient Lodging Tax Fund 

This fund accounts for transient lodging taxes received that will be spent on tourism promotion, tourism-
related facilities and related administrative costs, with some restrictions.  

Local Option Tax Fund 

This fund accounts for the property tax revenue received from a special levy approved by the voters. The 
money is used primarily to pay for police services. 

American Rescue Plan Act Fund 

This fund accounts for revenues received through the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021. The money is used 
to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic and its negative economic impacts. 

46



 

 
- 19 - 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

Basis of Presentation (Continued) 
 

The City reports the following nonmajor governmental funds: 
 

Street Fund 
 
This fund accounts for street maintenance and improvements. The primary source of revenues is from motor 
vehicle fuel taxes and expenditures are for street maintenance and improvements. 
 
Street Capital Projects Fund 
 
This fund accounts for money set aside for street improvements. The principal revenues are from transfers in 
and the primary expenditures are for street improvements. 

 
Building Reserve Fund 
 
This fund accounts for money set aside for building improvements. The principal revenues are from transfers 
in and primary expenditures are for building improvements.  

 
Park Capital Projects Fund 
 
This fund accounts for money set aside for park improvements. The principal revenues are transfers from the 
General Fund and primary expenditures are for park projects. 
 
Equipment Replacement Reserve Fund 
 
This fund accounts for money set aside for equipment purchases. The principal revenues are from transfers 
from the General Fund and primary expenditures are for equipment purchases.  

 
The City reports the following proprietary operations as major. They are used to account for the acquisition, 
operation, and maintenance of the sewer and water systems. These funds are entirely or predominantly self-
supported through user charges to customers. 

 
Water Operations 
 
This fund accounts for the operations, maintenance, capital construction projects and payments of principal 
and interest on loans for the water system, which are funded through utility fees and debt proceeds. 
 
Sewer Operations 
 
This fund accounts for the operations, maintenance, capital construction projects and payments of principal 
and interest on loans for the sewer system, which are funded through utility fees and debt proceeds. 
 
Debt Service Fund 
 
This fund accounts for the accumulation of resources and payment of principal and interest on loans. Interest 
earnings and transfers from other funds are the primary source of revenues.  
 

 

47



 

 
- 20 - 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 
Fund Balance 
 
In governmental funds, the City’s policy is to first apply the expenditure toward restricted fund balance and 
then to other, less-restrictive classifications – committed and then assigned fund balances before using 
unassigned fund balances.  
 
Fund balance is reported as nonspendable when the resources cannot be spent because they are either in a 
nonspendable form or legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. Resources in nonspendable form 
include inventories, prepaids and deposits, and assets held for resale. 
 
Fund balance is reported as restricted when the constraints placed on the use of resources are either: (a) 
externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations 
of other governments; or (b) imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 
 
Fund balance is reported as committed when the City Council takes formal action that places specific 
constraints on how the resources may be used. The City Council can modify or rescind the commitment at any 
time through taking a similar formal action. 
 
Resources that are constrained by the City’s intent to use them for a specific purpose, but are neither restricted 
nor committed, are reported as assigned fund balance. Intent is expressed when the City Council approves 
which resources should be “reserved” during the adoption of the annual budget. The City’s City Manager uses 
that information to determine whether those resources should be classified as assigned or unassigned for 
presentation in the City’s Annual Financial Report. 
 
Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the General Fund. This classification represents fund 
balance that has not been restricted, committed, or assigned within the General Fund. This classification is also 
used to report any negative fund balance amounts in other governmental funds.  
 
When expenditures are paid for purposes in which both net position - restricted and net position - unrestricted 
are available, the City deems net position - restricted to be spent first. 
 
Definitions of Governmental Fund Types 
 
The General Fund is used to account for all financial resources not accounted for in another fund. 
 
Special Revenue Funds are used to account for and report the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are 
restricted or committed to expenditure for specified purposes other than debt service or capital projects. The 
term “proceeds of specific revenues sources” means that the revenue sources for the fund must be from 
restricted or committed sources, specifically that a substantial portion of the revenue must be from these sources 
and be expended in accordance with those requirements. Budgetary Special Revenue Funds whose primary 
source of funding is transfers from the General Fund must be reported as part of the General Fund. Therefore, in 
the Governmental Balance Sheet and the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances, 
the State Revenue Sharing Fund has been combined with the General Fund. 
 
Capital Projects Funds are utilized to account for financial resources to be used for the acquisition or 
construction of capital equipment and facilities. 

 
 

  

48



 

 
- 21 - 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
 Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
 

Measurement focus is a term used to describe what transactions or events are recorded within the various 
financial statements. Basis of accounting refers to when and how transactions or events are recorded, regardless 
of the measurement focus applied.  

 
In the government-wide Statement of Net Position (Modified Cash Basis) and Statement of Activities 
(Modified Cash Basis), both governmental and business-type activities are presented using the economic 
resource measurement focus, within the limitations of the modified cash basis of accounting, as defined below. 
 
In the fund financial statements, the current financial resources measurement focus or the economic resources 
measurement focus is applied to the modified cash basis of accounting, is used as appropriate: 

 
a. All governmental funds utilize a current financial resources measurement focus within the limitations of 

the modified cash basis of accounting. Only current financial assets and liabilities are generally included 
on their balance sheets. Their operating statements present sources and uses of available spendable 
financial resources during a given period. These funds use fund balance as their measure of available 
spendable financial resources at the end of the period. 

b. The proprietary funds utilize an economic resource measurement focus within the limitations of the 
modified cash basis of accounting. The accounting objectives of this measurement focus are the 
determination of operating income, change in net position (or cost recovery), net financial position, and 
cash flows. All assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, and deferred inflows (whether current or noncurrent 
or financial or nonfinancial) associated with their activities are generally reported within the limitations 
of the modified cash basis of accounting. 

 
The financial statements are presented on a modified cash basis of accounting, which is a basis of accounting 
other than GAAP as established by the GASB. This basis of accounting involves modifications to the cash basis 
of accounting to report in the statements of net position or balance sheets cash transactions or events that 
provide a benefit or result in an obligation that covers a period greater than the period in which the cash 
transaction or event occurred. Such reported balances include: 

 
1. Interfund receivables and payables that are temporary borrowing and result from transactions involving 

cash or cash equivalents are recognized. 
2. Assets that normally convert to cash or cash equivalents (e.g., certificates of deposit, external cash pools, 

and marketable investments) that arise from transactions and events involving cash or cash equivalents 
are recognized. 

3. Liabilities for cash (or cash equivalents) held on behalf of others or held in escrow are recognized. 
 

The modified cash basis of accounting differs from GAAP primarily because certain assets and their related 
revenues (such as accounts receivable and revenue for billed or provided services not yet collected and other 
accrued revenue and receivables) and certain liabilities and their related expenses or expenditures (such as 
accounts payable and expenses for goods and services received but not yet paid and other accrued expenses and 
liabilities) are not recorded in these financial statements. In addition, other economic assets, deferred outflows, 
liabilities, and deferred inflows that do not arise from a cash transaction or event are not reported, and the 
measurement of reported assets and liabilities does not involve adjustment to fair value. Additionally, long-term 
liabilities such as debt are only reported in the notes to the financial statements. 

 
 

49



- 22 -

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting (Continued) 

If the City utilized the basis of accounting recognized as generally accepted in the United States of America, the 
fund financial statements for the governmental funds would use the modified accrual basis of accounting, and 
the fund financial statements for the proprietary funds would use the accrual basis of accounting. All 
government-wide financial statements would be presented on the accrual basis of accounting. 

The City’s policy, although not in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America, is acceptable under Oregon Law (ORS 294.333), which leaves the selection of the method of 
accounting to the discretion of the municipal corporation.  

Proprietary funds distinguish between operating and nonoperating revenues and expenses. Operating revenues 
and expenses result from providing services to customers in connection with ongoing utility operations. The 
principal operating revenues are charges to customers for service. Operating expenses include payroll and 
related costs, and materials and supplies. All revenues not considered operating are reported as nonoperating. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The City maintains cash and cash equivalents in a common pool that is available for use by all funds. Each fund 
type’s portion of this pool is displayed in the financial statements as cash and cash equivalents. The City 
considers cash on hand, demand deposits and savings accounts, and short-term investments with an original 
maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition to be cash and cash equivalents. 

Oregon Revised Statutes authorize the City to invest in certificates of deposit, savings accounts, bank 
repurchase agreements, bankers’ acceptances, general obligations of U.S. Government and its agencies, certain 
bonded obligations of Oregon municipalities and the State Treasurer’s Local Government Investment Pool, 
among others. 

Investments are stated at cost, which approximates fair value. 

Property Taxes 

Property taxes are levied by the County Assessor and collected by the County Tax Collector. The taxes are 
levied and become a lien as of July 1. They may be paid in three installments payable in equal payments due 
November 15, February 15, and May 15. The City’s property tax collection records show that most of the 
property taxes due are collected during the year of levy and delinquent taxes are collected in the next few years. 

Capital Assets 

The City does not maintain historical cost or depreciation records for capital assets. Therefore, capital assets are 
not reported in the notes to the financial statements. 

Long-Term Debt 

Long-term debt is presented only in the notes to the financial statements. Payments of principal and interest are 
recorded as expenditures / expenses when paid. 

50



 

 
- 23 - 

 CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 

 
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

Accrued Compensated Absences 
 
Accumulated unpaid vacation and comp time pay is not accrued. Earned but unpaid sick pay is recorded as an 
expenditure when paid. The amount payable for accumulated vacation and comp time at June 30, 2022 was 
$42,797. 
 
Budgets and Budgetary Accounting 
 
The City adopts the budget on an object basis (personnel services, materials and services, capital outlay, debt 
service), for all funds except the General fund, where the budget is adopted on a departmental basis. Therefore, 
cash expenditures of a fund may not legally exceed that object’s appropriations for cash expenditures. The City 
Council may amend the budget to expend unforeseen revenues by supplemental appropriations. Appropriations 
lapse at year-end and may not be carried over. The City does not use encumbrance accounting. 
 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of basic financial statements, in conformity with the modified cash basis of accounting requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that effect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the basic financial statements and reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses/expenditures during the year ended June 30, 2022. Actual results may differ from 
such estimates. 
 
 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

 
Deposits 
 
At year end, the book balance of the City’s bank deposits (checking account) was $300,272 and the bank balance 
was $282,743. The difference is due to transactions in process. Bank deposits are secured to legal limits by 
federal deposit insurance. All deposits not covered by FDIC insurance are covered by the Public Funds 
Collateralization Program (PFCP) of the State of Oregon.  

Cash
Cash on hand $ 350
Deposits with financial institutions 300,258

Investments
Local Government Investment Pool 4,851,124

$ 5,151,732     

51



- 24 -

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued) 

Custodial Credit Risk - Deposits 

This is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the City’s deposits may not be returned. The Federal 
Depository Insurance Corporation (FDIC) provides insurance for the City’s deposits with financial institutions 
for up to $250,000 for the aggregate of all demand deposits and the aggregate of all time deposit and savings 
accounts at each institution. Deposits in excess of FDIC coverage are with institutions participating in the 
Oregon Public Funds Collateralization Program (PFCP). The PFCP is a shared liability structure for 
participating bank depositories, better protecting public funds though still not guaranteeing that all funds are 
100% protected. Barring any exceptions, a bank depository is required to pledge collateral valued at least 10% 
of their quarter-end public fund deposits if they are well capitalized, 25% of their quarter-end public fund 
deposits if they are adequately capitalized or 110% of their quarter-end public fund deposits if they are 
undercapitalized or assigned to pledge 110% by the Office of the State Treasurer. In the event of a bank failure, 
the entire pool of collateral pledged by all qualified Oregon public funds bank depositories is available to repay 
deposits of public funds of government entities. As of June 30, 2022, $32,743 of the City’s bank balances was 
covered by the PFCP. 

Custodial Risk – Local Government Investment Pool 

For the LGIP, this is the risk that, in the event of a failure of the counterparty, the City will not be able to 
recover the value of its investments or collateralized securities that are in the possession of an outside party. 
The City’s investment policy limits the types of investments that may be held and does not allow securities to 
be held by the counterparty. 

The LGIP is administered by the Oregon State Treasury with the advice of other state agencies and is not 
registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. The LGIP is an open-ended no-load diversified 
portfolio offered to any agency, political subdivision, or public corporation of the state that by law is made the 
custodian of, or has control of any fund. The LGIP is commingled with the State's short-term funds. In seeking 
to best serve local governments of Oregon, the Oregon Legislature established the Oregon Short Term Fund 
Board, which has established diversification percentages and specifies the types and maturities of the 
investments. The purpose of the Board is to advise the Oregon State Treasury in the management and 
investment of the LGIP. These investments within the LGIP must be invested and managed as a prudent 
investor would, exercising reasonable care, skill and caution. Professional standards indicate that the 
investments in external investment pools are not subject to custodial risk because they are not evidenced by 
securities that exist in physical or book entry form. Nevertheless, management does not believe that there is any 
substantial custodial risk related to investments in the LGIP. 

Local Government Investment Pool 

The State Treasurer of the State of Oregon maintains the Oregon Short Term Fund, of which the Local 
Government Investment Pool is part. Participation by local governments is voluntary. The State of Oregon 
investment policies are governed by statute and the Oregon Investment Council. In accordance with Oregon 
Statutes, the investment funds are invested as a prudent investor would do, exercising reasonable care, skill and 
caution. The Oregon Short Term Fund is the LGIP for local governments and was established by the State 
Treasurer. It was created to meet the financial and administrative responsibilities of federal arbitrage 
regulations. The investments are regulated by the Oregon Short Term Fund Board and approved by the Oregon 
Investment Council (ORS 294.805 to 294.895). At June 30, 2022, the fair value of the position in the Oregon 
State Treasurer’s Short Term Investment Pool was approximately equal to the value of the pool shares. The 
investment in the Oregon Short Term Fund is not subject to risk evaluation. LGIP is not rated for credit quality. 

52



 

 
- 25 - 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued) 

 
Local Government Investment Pool (Continued) 
 
Separate financial statements for the Oregon Short Term Fund are available from the Oregon State Treasurer. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
In accordance with its investment policy, the City manages its exposure to declines in fair value of its 
investments by limiting its investments to the LGIP. 

 
 
LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
As a result of the use of the modified cash basis of accounting in this report, obligations related to long-term debt 
and other obligations are not reported as liabilities in the financial statements. Long-term debt transactions for the 
year were as follows: 
 

 
 

In relation to the 2005 Infrastructure Finance Authority borrowing, the City of Dayton made a loan to the City of 
Lafayette in the amount of $600,000, which is collateralized by wells. The loan is to be repaid in annual 
installments of $23,249 including interest at 1% through November 2033. The balance receivable at June 30, 
2022 was $261,666. 
 
Loans payable – Business Type Activities 
 
Infrastructure Finance Authority (OBDD): On September 30, 2002 the City entered into a loan agreement with 
the Oregon Business Development Division for water system improvements. The loan was for $3,383,000 and 
calls for annual payments of $143,333. The loan bears interest at 1%. Final maturity is December 1, 2032. In the 
event of default OBDD may declare all amounts immediately due and payable and pursue any remedies that are 
legally available.  

Direct Placement - Business-type activities

Note payable to Infrastructure Finance

Authority (Oregon Business

Development Department) $ 1,987,538  $ (123,458)    $ 1,864,080  $ 124,692     

Note payable to Infrastructure Finance

Authority (Oregon Business

Development Department) 374,529     (13,885)      360,644     14,024       

USDA Sewer Improvement Loan 2,260,995  (39,854)      2,221,141  40,602       

$ 4,623,062  $ (177,197)    $ 4,445,865  $ 179,318     

July 1, Due Within

One Year2021 During Year 2022

Redeemed June 30,

OutstandingOutstanding Matured/

53



- 26 -

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 

LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 

Infrastructure Finance Authority (OBDD): On November 18, 2014 the City entered into a loan agreement with 
the Oregon Business Development Division for water system improvements. The loan was for $910,000 with a 
$455,000 conditional forgivable portion which was forgiven in June 2015. The loan calls for annual payments of 
$17,630 and bears interest at 1%. Final maturity is December 1, 2044. In the event of default OBDD may declare 
all amounts immediately due and payable and pursue any remedies that are legally available. 

USDA Sewer Improvement Loan: On December 6, 2019 the City refinanced the existing loan with Oregon DEQ 
in the amount of $2,300,000 through the U.S. Department of Agriculture. The loan will bear interest at 1.874% 
and will be repaid in equal installments over 40 years. In the event of default USDA may pursue any remedies 
that are legally available. 

Future maturities of unmatured principal and interest for the fiscal years ending June 30 are as follows: 

PENSION PLAN 

Plan Description - City employees are provided pension benefits through the Oregon Public Employees 
Retirement System (PERS). PERS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan for units of 
state and local government in Oregon, containing multiple actuarial pools. Benefits are established and amended 
by the Oregon State Legislature pursuant to ORS Chapters 238 and 238A. The legislature has delegated the 
authority to administer and manage PERS to the Public Employees Retirement Board. PERS issues a publicly 
available financial report that can be found at: https://www.oregon.gov/pers/Pages/Financials/Actuarial-Financial-
Information.aspx 

Ending

2023 $ 179,318 $ 63,893 $ 243,211 
2024 181,466 61,745 243,211 
2025 183,534 59,678 243,212 
2026 185,846 57,366 243,212 
2027 188,079 55,132 243,211 

2028-2032 974,849 241,209  1,216,058  
2033-2037 892,133 180,897  1,073,030  
2038-2042 361,428 137,962  499,390 
2043-2047 357,336 106,741  464,077 
2048-2052 335,232 76,008  411,240 
2053-2057 367,857 43,383  411,240 
2058-2061 238,788 9,050  247,838 

$ 4,445,865  $ 1,093,065  $ 5,538,930  

Total

Fiscal Year

June 30, Principal Interest

54



- 27 -

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 

PENSION PLAN (Continued) 

Benefits Provided - PERS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits which vary based on a qualified 
employee’s hiring date and employment class (general service or police/fire). All City employees are eligible to 
participate after six months of covered employment. Details applicable to police/fire employees are noted in 
[square brackets] where different. 

The Tier One/Tier Two Retirement Plan applies to qualifying employees hired before August 29, 2003 and is 
closed to new members.  

Monthly retirement benefits are based on final 3-year average salary multiplied by years of service and a factor of 
1.67% [2.00%]. Benefits may also be based on a money match computation, or formula plus annuity (for 
members contributing before August 21, 1981), if a greater benefit results. Employees are fully vested after 
making contributions in each of five calendar years, and are eligible to retire at age 55 [50]. Tier One benefits are 
reduced if retirement occurs prior to age 58 [55] with less than 30 [25] years of service; Tier Two benefits are 
reduced for retirement prior to age 60. 

Employees are eligible for service-related disability benefits regardless of length of service; 10 years of service is 
required for nonservice-related benefits. Disability benefits are determined in the same manner as retirement 
benefits with service time computed to age 58 [55]. 

Upon the death of a non-retired member, the beneficiary receives a lump-sum refund of the member’s account 
balance. The beneficiary may also receive a matching lump-sum payment from employer funds if the member 
was in covered employment at the time of death, or if the member died less than 120 days after termination, while 
on official leave of absence, or as a result of a job-related injury. 

Monthly benefits are subject to annual cost-of-living adjustments (COLA). For benefits earned after the relevant 
effective dates, the COLA is subject to a cap of 1.25% on the first $60,000 of annual benefits and 0.15% 
thereafter (ORS 238.360). 

The Oregon Public Service Retirement Plan (OPSRP) applies to qualifying employees hired on or after August 
29, 2003.  

Monthly retirement benefits are based on final 3-year average salary multiplied by years of service and a factor of 
1.50% [1.80%]. Employees are fully vested after completing 600 hours of service in each of five calendar years, 
and are eligible to retire at age 58 [53] with 30 [25] years of service, or at age 65 [60] otherwise. 

Employees are eligible for service-related disability benefits regardless of length of service; 10 years of service is 
required for nonservice-related benefits. The benefit is 45% of the employee’s salary during the last full month of 
employment before the disability occurred. 

Upon the death of a non-retired member, the beneficiary receives a monthly benefit equal to 50% of the 
retirement benefit that would have been paid to the member. 

Monthly benefits are subject to annual cost-of-living adjustments (COLA). For benefits earned after the relevant 
effective dates, the COLA is subject to a cap of 1.25% on the first $60,000 of annual benefits and 0.15% 
thereafter (ORS 238A.210). 

55



 

 
- 28 - 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 
PENSION PLAN (Continued) 
 
Contribution Requirements – As a participating employer, the City is required to make monthly contributions to 
PERS based on actuarially determined percentages of covered payroll. Rates in effect for fiscal year 2022 were 
19.37% for Tier One/Tier Two employees, 15.52% for OPSRP general service employees, and 19.88% for 
OPSRP police/fire employees. The City’s total contributions to PERS were $103,426 for fiscal year ended June 
30, 2022. 
 
Contribution requirements are established by Oregon statute and may be amended by an act of the Oregon State 
Legislature. Employer contribution rates for fiscal year 2022 were based on the December 31, 2019 actuarial 
valuation using the entry age normal actuarial cost method. It is important to note that the actuarial valuations 
used for rate setting are based on different methods and assumptions than those used for financial reporting which 
are described later in this note. 
 
Employee contributions are set by statute at 6% of salary and are remitted by participating employers, who may 
agree to make employee contributions on the employee’s behalf. Prior to January 1, 2004, employee contributions 
were credited to the defined benefit pension plan. Beginning January 1, 2004, all employee contributions were 
placed in the OPSRP Individual Account Program (IAP), a defined contribution pension plan described further at 
the end of this note. 

 
Pension Assets/Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Pension-Related Deferrals – At June 30, 2022, the City reported 
a net pension liability of $522,276 as its proportionate share of the collective net pension liability for PERS, 
measured as of June 30, 2021. The total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was based on a 
December 31, 2019 actuarial valuation, rolled forward to the measurement date. The City’s proportion of the net 
pension liability was based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of contributions to PERS relative to the 
projected contributions of all participating employers, as actuarially determined. The City’s proportion was 
0.004364% as of the June 30, 2021 measurement date, compared to 0.003875% as of June 30, 2020. 
 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions – The total pension liability in the December 31, 2019 actuarial valuation 
was determined using the entry age normal method and the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods 
included in the measurement: inflation rate of 2.40%, projected salary increases of 3.40%, investment rate of 
return of 6.90%, and mortality rates based on the Pub-2010 Healthy Retiree, sex distinct, generational with 
Unisex, Social Security Data Scale, with job category adjustments and set-backs. These assumptions were based 
on the results of the December 31, 2019 actuarial experience study. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was developed by combining estimated rates 
of return for each major asset class weighted by target asset allocation percentages and adjusting for inflation.  
 
Target allocations and estimated geometric rates of return for each major asset class are available in the PERS 
publicly available financial report previously mentioned. 
 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.90%. The projection of cash flows used to 
determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members and those of the contributing 
employers are made at the contractually required rates, as actuarially determined. Based on those assumptions, the 
pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments 
of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was 
applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 
 
The following chart shows the sensitivity of the net pension liability (asset) to changes in the discount rate, based 
on calculations using discount rates of 5.90%, 6.90%, and 7.90%.  

56



 

 
- 29 - 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 
PENSION PLAN (Continued) 
 

 
 
 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position – Detailed information about PERS’ net position is available in its separately 
issued financial report. 
 
Defined Contribution Plan – PERS-eligible employees are statutorily required to contribute 6% of their annual 
covered salary to the OPSRP Individual Account Program (IAP), a defined contribution pension plan. Benefits 
terms, including contribution requirements, are established by the Oregon Legislature. As permitted, the City has 
opted to pick-up the contributions on behalf of employees; contributions were $30,865 for the year ended June 
30, 2022. Employees are fully vested after completing 600 hours of service in each of five calendar years. PERS 
contracts with VOYA Financial to administer the IAP. 
 
 
INTERFUND TRANSFERS (BUDGETARY BASIS) 
 

 
 
Transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them to the fund 
that statute or budget requires to expend them, (2) move revenues restricted to debt service from the funds 
collecting the revenues to the debt service fund as debt service payments become due, and (3) use unrestricted 
revenues collected in the general fund to finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance 
with budgetary authorizations.  

1% Decrease 
(5.90%)

Discount Rate 
(6.90%)

1% Increase 
(7.90%)

Proportionate share of the 
net pension liability  $      1,025,625  $         522,276  $         101,155 

Fund Transfers In Transfers Out

General 28,500$         25,000$         
Local Option Tax 5,000             -                   
American Rescue Act -                   120,250         
Street Capital Projects 50,000           -                   
State Revenue Sharing 10,000           -                   
Street -                   101,000         
Park Capital Projects 5,000             -                   
Building Reserve 30,000           -                   
Equipment Replacement Reserve 86,000           -                   
Water Utility  55,500           430,000         
Sewer Utility 31,250           121,000         
Water Utility Capital 250,000         -                   
Sewer Utility Capital 10,000           -                   
Debt Service 236,000         -                   

797,250$        797,250$        

57



- 30 -

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 

CONTINGENCIES 

The City purchases commercial insurance to cover all commonly insurable risks, which includes property 
damage, liability and employee bonds. Most policies carry a small deductible amount. There were no open claims 
at the time of this report. No insurance settlements have exceeded coverage in the last three years. 

58



SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

59



 

- 31 - 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
RECONCILIATION OF BUDGETARY FUNDS TO REPORTING FUNDS – GENERAL FUND –  
BALANCE SHEET (BUDGETARY BASIS) 
JUNE 30, 2022 
 

 

General
State Revenue 

Sharing

Total (reported 
as General 

Fund)
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 366,852$           45,822$             412,674$           

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE
Liabilities

Payroll withholdings 1,019$               -$                     1,019$               

Fund Balance

Unassigned 365,833             45,822               411,655             

Total Liabilities and Fund Balance 366,852$           45,822$             412,674$           

 Budgetary funds 

60



 

- 32 - 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
RECONCILIATION OF BUDGETARY FUNDS TO REPORTING FUNDS – GENERAL FUND –  
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE  (BUDGETARY BASIS) 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 

 
  

General
State Revenue 

Sharing

Total (reported 
as General 

Fund)
REVENUES

Taxes and assessments 246,338$           -$                     246,338$           
Licenses and permits 170,424             -                       170,424             
Intergovernmental 79,966               32,588               112,554             
Fines and forfeitures 104                   -                       104                   
Miscellaneous 33,775               113                   33,888               

Total Revenues 530,607             32,701               563,308             

EXPENDITURES

General government 216,640             34,205               250,845             
Public works 194,291             -                       194,291             
Community development 289,830             1,224                 291,054             

Total Expenditures 700,761             35,429               736,190             

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) 
EXPENDITURES (170,154)            (2,728)               (172,882)            

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 28,500               10,000               38,500               
Transfers out (25,000)              -                       (25,000)              

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 3,500                 10,000               13,500               

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (166,654)            7,272                 (159,382)            

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 532,487             38,550               571,037             

FUND BALANCE, end of year 365,833$           45,822$             411,655$           

 Budgetary funds 

61



 

- 33 - 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET – NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
JUNE 30, 2022 
 

 
  

 Special 
Revenue 

Street
Street Capital 

Projects
Building 
Reserve

Park Capital 
Projects

Equipment 
Replacement 

Reserve Total
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 211,479$      253,548$        206,978$      66,915$          21,175$          760,095$        

Fund Balance

Restricted for:
Streets 211,479$      253,548$        50,000$        -$                  -$                  515,027$        
Community development -                  -                    -                  66,915           -                    66,915           

Committed to:
Capital acquisitions -                  -                    156,978        -                    21,175           178,153          

Total Fund Balance 211,479        253,548          206,978        66,915           21,175           760,095          

Total Liabilities and Fund Balance 211,479$      253,548$        206,978$      66,915$          21,175$          760,095$        

Capital Projects
 Capital 
Projects 

62



 

- 34 - 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES – 
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 

 
  

 Special 
Revenue 

Street
Street Capital 

Projects
Building 
Reserve

Park Capital 
Projects

Equipment 
Replacement 

Reserve Total
REVENUES

Licenses and permits -$                5,625$           -$                 500$             -$                 6,125$           
Intergovernmental 217,379        150,036          -                   -                   -                   367,415         
Miscellaneous 753              1,524             949               1,494             304               5,024             

Total Revenues 218,132        157,185          949               1,994             304               378,564         

EXPENDITURES
Current

Public works 57,385          -                    -                   -                   -                   57,385           
Community development 57,970          -                    -                   -                   -                   57,970           
Capital acquisitions 8,104           110,898          22,013           -                   97,909           238,924         

Total Expenditures 123,459        110,898          22,013           -                   97,909           354,279         

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) 
EXPENDITURES 94,673          46,287           (21,064)          1,994             (97,605)          24,285           

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in -                  50,000           30,000           5,000             86,000           171,000         
Transfers out (101,000)       -                    -                   -                   -                   (101,000)        

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (101,000)       50,000           30,000           5,000             86,000           70,000           

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (6,327)          96,287           8,936             6,994             (11,605)          94,285           

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 217,806        157,261          198,042         59,921           32,780           665,810         

FUND BALANCE, end of year 211,479$      253,548$        206,978$       66,915$         21,175$         760,095$       

Capital Projects

63



 

- 35 - 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE (BUDGETARY BASIS)  – 
BUDGET AND ACTUAL – GENERAL FUND 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 

 
  

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Taxes and assessments 221,000$      227,000$      246,338$      19,338$        
Licenses and permits 124,200        154,200        170,424        16,224          
Intergovernmental 85,200          90,700          79,966          (10,734)        
Fines and forfeitures 100              100              104              4                 
Miscellaneous 4,750           21,750          33,775          12,025          

Total Revenues 435,250        493,750        530,607        36,857          

EXPENDITURES

Adminstration 220,729        236,179        216,640        19,539          
Parks 208,338        208,338        185,343        22,995          
Library 126,656        126,656        104,487        22,169          
Planning 103,186        103,186        91,364          11,822          
Building program 95,853          119,315        102,927        16,388          
Contingency 47,080          66,668          -                  66,668          

Total Expenditures 801,842        860,342        700,761        159,581        

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) (366,592)       (366,592)       (170,154)       196,438        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 28,500          28,500          28,500          -                  
Transfers out (25,000)        (25,000)        (25,000)        -                  

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (363,092)       (363,092)       (166,654)       196,438        

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 363,092        363,092        532,487        169,395        

FUND BALANCE, end of year -$                -$                365,833$      365,833$      

Budget Amounts

64



 

- 36 - 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE (BUDGETARY BASIS)  – 
BUDGET AND ACTUAL – STATE REVENUE SHARING FUND 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 

  

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Intergovernmental 30,000$        30,000$        32,588$        2,588$          
Miscellaneous 600              600              113              (487)             

Total Revenues 30,600          30,600          32,701          2,101           

EXPENDITURES

Materials and services 54,940          54,940          34,205          20,735          
Capital outlay 6,400           6,400           1,224           5,176           

Total Expenditures 61,340          61,340          35,429          25,911          

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) 
EXPENDITURES (30,740)        (30,740)        (2,728)          28,012          

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 10,000          10,000          10,000          -                  

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (20,740)        (20,740)        7,272           28,012          

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 20,740          20,740          38,550          17,810          

FUND BALANCE, end of year -$                -$                45,822$        45,822$        

Budget Amounts

65



 

- 37 - 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE (BUDGETARY BASIS)  – 
BUDGET AND ACTUAL – TRANSIENT LODGING TAX FUND 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 

 
  

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Taxes and assessments 58,000$        58,000$        81,600$        23,600$        
Miscellaneous 300              300              227              (73)              

Total Revenues 58,300          58,300          81,827          23,527          

EXPENDITURES

Materials and services 2,810           2,810           2,083           727              
Contingency 258,437        258,437        -                  258,437        

Total Expenditures 261,247        261,247        2,083           259,164        

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (202,947)       (202,947)       79,744          282,691        

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 302,947        302,947        311,943        8,996           

FUND BALANCE, end of year 100,000$      100,000$      391,687$      291,687$      

Budget Amounts

66



- 38 -

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE (BUDGETARY BASIS)  – 
BUDGET AND ACTUAL – LOCAL OPTION TAX FUND 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Taxes and assessments 226,500$      226,500$   256,392$   29,892$   
Fines and forfeitures 8,500 8,500 9,336 836  
Miscellaneous 1,000 1,000 1,397 397  

Total Revenues 236,000  236,000  267,125  31,125  

EXPENDITURES

Personnel services 67,452  67,452  61,878  5,574 
Materials and services 254,900  254,900  239,817  15,083  
Capital outlay 2,000 2,000 617  1,383 
Contingency 2,488 2,488 - 2,488

Total Expenditures 326,840  326,840  302,312  24,528  

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) 
EXPENDITURES (90,840) (90,840) (35,187) 55,653  

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

Transfers in 5,000 5,000 5,000 -  

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (85,840) (85,840) (30,187) 55,653  

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 85,840  85,840  114,787  28,947  

FUND BALANCE, end of year -$  -$  84,600$   84,600$   

Budget Amounts

67



 

- 39 - 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE (BUDGETARY BASIS)  – 
BUDGET AND ACTUAL – AMERICAN RESCUE ACT FUND 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 

 
  

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Intergovernmental 560,000$      560,000$      304,570$      (255,430)$     

Total Revenues 560,000        560,000        304,570        (255,430)       

EXPENDITURES

Contingency 439,750        439,750        -                  439,750        

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) 
EXPENDITURES 120,250        120,250        304,570        184,320        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

Transfers out (120,250)       (120,250)       (120,250)       -                  

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -                  -                  184,320        184,320        

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year -                  -                  -                  -                  

FUND BALANCE, end of year -$                -$                184,320$      184,320$      

Budget Amounts

68



 

- 40 - 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE (BUDGETARY BASIS)  – 
BUDGET AND ACTUAL – STREET FUND 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 

 
  

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Intergovernmental 180,000$      180,000$      217,379$      37,379$        
Miscellaneous 600              600              753              153              

Total Revenues 180,600        180,600        218,132        37,532          

EXPENDITURES

Personnel services 61,981          61,981          57,385          4,596           
Materials and services 87,937          87,937          57,970          29,967          
Capital outlay 21,500          21,500          8,104           13,396          
Contingency 106,255        65,255          -                  65,255          

Total Expenditures 277,673        236,673        123,459        113,214        

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) 
EXPENDITURES (97,073)        (56,073)        94,673          150,746        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers out (65,000)        (106,000)       (101,000)       5,000           

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (162,073)       (162,073)       (6,327)          155,746        

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 162,073        162,073        217,806        55,733          

FUND BALANCE, end of year -$                -$                211,479$      211,479$      

Budget Amounts

69



 

- 41 - 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE (BUDGETARY BASIS)  – 
BUDGET AND ACTUAL – STREET CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 

 
  

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Licenses and permits 4,500$          4,500$          5,625$          1,125$          
Intergovernmental 850,000        850,000        150,036        (699,964)       
Miscellaneous 1,000           1,000           1,524           524              

Total Revenues 855,500        855,500        157,185        (698,315)       

EXPENDITURES

Capital outlay 925,000        925,000        110,898        814,102        
Contingency 50,760          50,760          -                  50,760          

Total Expenditures 975,760        975,760        110,898        864,862        

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) 
EXPENDITURES (120,260)       (120,260)       46,287          166,547        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 50,000          50,000          50,000          -                  

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (70,260)        (70,260)        96,287          166,547        

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 70,260          70,260          157,261        87,001          

FUND BALANCE, end of year -$                -$                253,548$      253,548$      

Budget Amounts

70



 

- 42 - 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE (BUDGETARY BASIS)  – 
BUDGET AND ACTUAL – BUILDING RESERVE FUND 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 

 
  

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Miscellaneous 500$            500$            949$            449$            

EXPENDITURES

Capital outlay 40,000          40,000          22,013          17,987          
Contingency 83,275          83,275          -                  83,275          

Total Expenditures 123,275        123,275        22,013          101,262        

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) 
EXPENDITURES (122,775)       (122,775)       (21,064)        101,711        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 30,000          30,000          30,000          -                  

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (92,775)        (92,775)        8,936           101,711        

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 192,775        192,775        198,042        5,267           

FUND BALANCE, end of year 100,000$      100,000$      206,978$      106,978$      

Budget Amounts

71



- 43 -

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE (BUDGETARY BASIS)  – 
BUDGET AND ACTUAL – PARK CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Licenses and permits 400$   400$   500$   100$   
Miscellaneous 1,000 1,000 1,494 494  

Total Revenues 1,400 1,400 1,994 594  

EXPENDITURES

Capital outlay 45,000  45,000  - 45,000 
Contingency 11,743  11,743  - 11,743 

Total Expenditures 56,743  56,743  - 56,743 

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) 
EXPENDITURES (55,343) (55,343) 1,994 57,337  

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 5,000 5,000 5,000 -  

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (50,343) (50,343) 6,994 57,337  

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 50,343  50,343  59,921  9,578 

FUND BALANCE, end of year -$  -$  66,915$   66,915$   

Budget Amounts

72



- 44 -

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE (BUDGETARY BASIS)  – 
BUDGET AND ACTUAL – EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT RESERVE FUND 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Miscellaneous 550$   550$   304$   (246)$   

EXPENDITURES

Capital outlay 64,000  105,000  97,909  7,091 
Contingency 20,868  20,868  - 20,868 

Total Expenditures 84,868  125,868  97,909  27,959  

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) 
EXPENDITURES (84,318) (125,318)  (97,605) 27,713  

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 50,000  91,000  86,000  (5,000)  

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (34,318) (34,318) (11,605) 22,713  

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 34,318  34,318  32,780  (1,538)  

FUND BALANCE, end of year -$  -$  21,175$   21,175$   

Budget Amounts

73



 

- 45 - 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -   
WATER OPERATIONS 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 

 
  

Water
Utility

Water
Utility 

Capital
Interfund 

Eliminations
Total Water
Operations

REVENUES
Charges for services 1,026,214$    -$                -$                1,026,214$    
Intergovernmental -                  400,000        -                  400,000        
Miscellaneous 3,416           2,687           -                  6,103           

Total Revenues 1,029,630     402,687        -                  1,432,317     

EXPENDITURES
Personnel services 307,778        -                  -                  307,778        
Materials and services 251,423        -                  -                  251,423        
Capital outlay 2,493           145,490        -                  147,983        

Total Expenditures 561,694        145,490        -                  707,184        

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 467,936        257,197        -                  725,133        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Capital contributions -                  21,510          -                  21,510          
Transfers in 55,500          250,000        (250,000)       55,500          
Transfers out (430,000)       -                  250,000        (180,000)       

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (374,500)       271,510        -                  (102,990)       

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 93,436          528,707        -                  622,143        

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 682,853        228,086        -                  910,939        

FUND BALANCE, end of year 776,289$      756,793$      -$                1,533,082$    

74



 

- 46 - 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE (BUDGETARY BASIS)  – 
BUDGET AND ACTUAL – WATER UTILITY FUND 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 

 
  

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Charges for services 855,700$      855,700$      1,026,214$    170,514$      
Miscellaneous 3,000           3,000           3,416           416              

Total Revenues 858,700        858,700        1,029,630     170,930        

EXPENDITURES
Personnel services 325,932        325,932        307,778        18,154          
Materials and services 429,250        429,250        251,423        177,827        
Capital outlay 30,000          30,000          2,493           27,507          
Contingency 40,111          40,111          -                  40,111          

Total Expenditures 825,293        825,293        561,694        263,599        

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) 
EXPENDITURES 33,407          33,407          467,936        434,529        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 55,500          55,500          55,500          -                  
Transfers out (430,000)       (430,000)       (430,000)       -                  

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (374,500)       (374,500)       (374,500)       -                  

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (341,093)       (341,093)       93,436          434,529        

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 416,093        416,093        682,853        266,760        

FUND BALANCE, end of year 75,000$        75,000$        776,289$      701,289$      

Budget Amounts

75



- 47 -

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE (BUDGETARY BASIS)  – 
BUDGET AND ACTUAL – WATER UTILITY CAPITAL FUND 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Intergovernmental -$  400,000$      400,000$   -$   
Miscellaneous  2,000  2,000  2,687  687 

Total Revenues 2,000  402,000  402,687  687  

EXPENDITURES

Capital outlay 369,000  769,000  145,490  623,510  
Contingency 11,494  11,494  - 11,494 

Total Expenditures 380,494  780,494  145,490  635,004  

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) 
EXPENDITURES  (378,494)  (378,494)  257,197  635,691 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Capital contributions 16,968  16,968  21,510  4,542 
Transfers in 250,000  250,000  250,000  -  

Total Other Financing Sources and Uses 266,968  266,968  271,510  4,542 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (111,526)  (111,526)  528,707  640,233  

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 111,526  111,526  228,086  116,560  

FUND BALANCE, end of year -$  -$  756,793$      756,793$   

Budget Amounts

76



 

- 48 - 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES –  
SEWER OPERATIONS 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 

 
  

Sewer
Utility

Sewer
Utility 

Capital
Interfund 

Eliminations
Total Sewer
Operations

REVENUES
Charges for services 531,781$      -$                -$                531,781$      
Intergovernmental -                  1,111,000     -                  1,111,000     
Miscellaneous 2,636           1,647           -                  4,283           

Total Revenues 534,417        1,112,647     -                  1,647,064     

EXPENDITURES
Personnel services 217,714        -                  -                  217,714        
Materials and services 148,276        -                  -                  148,276        
Capital outlay 38,259          470,215        -                  508,474        

Total Expenditures 404,249        470,215        -                  874,464        

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 130,168        642,432        -                  772,600        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Capital contributions -                  37,820          -                  37,820          
Transfers in 31,250          10,000          (10,000)        31,250          
Transfers out (121,000)       -                  10,000          (111,000)       

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (89,750)        47,820          -                  (41,930)        

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 40,418          690,252        -                  730,670        

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 418,860        308,422        -                  727,282        

FUND BALANCE, end of year 459,278$      998,674$      -$                1,457,952$    

77



 

- 49 - 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE (BUDGETARY BASIS)  – 
BUDGET AND ACTUAL – SEWER FUND 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 

 
  

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Charges for services 496,000$      496,000$      531,781$      35,781$        
Miscellaneous 1,250           1,250           2,636           1,386           

Total Revenues 497,250        497,250        534,417        37,167          

EXPENDITURES

Personnel services 228,869        228,869        217,714        11,155          
Materials and services 243,325        243,325        148,276        95,049          
Capital outlay 94,000          94,000          38,259          55,741          
Contingency 34,357          34,357          -                  34,357          

Total Expenditures 600,551        600,551        404,249        196,302        

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) 
EXPENDITURES (103,301)       (103,301)       130,168        233,469        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 31,250          31,250          31,250          -                  
Transfers out (121,000)       (121,000)       (121,000)       -                  

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (193,051)       (193,051)       40,418          233,469        

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 293,051        293,051        418,860        125,809        

FUND BALANCE, end of year 100,000$      100,000$      459,278$      359,278$      

Budget Amounts

78



 

- 50 - 

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE (BUDGETARY BASIS)  – 
BUDGET AND ACTUAL – SEWER UTILITY CAPITAL FUND 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 

 
  

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Intergovernmental 1,500,000$    2,611,000$    1,111,000$    (1,500,000)$  
Miscellaneous 1,500           1,500           1,647           147              

Total Revenues 1,501,500     2,612,500     1,112,647     (1,499,853)    

EXPENDITURES

Capital outlay 1,665,000     2,776,000     470,215        2,305,785     
Contingency 43,051          43,051          -                  43,051          

Total Expenditures 1,708,051     2,819,051     470,215        2,348,836     

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) 
EXPENDITURES (206,551)       (206,551)       642,432        848,983        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Capital contributions 30,256          30,256          37,820          7,564           
Transfers in 10,000          10,000          10,000          -                  

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 40,256          40,256          47,820          7,564           

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (166,295)       (166,295)       690,252        856,547        

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 266,295        266,295        308,422        42,127          

FUND BALANCE, end of year 100,000$      100,000$      998,674$      898,674$      

Budget Amounts

79



- 51 -

CITY OF DAYTON, OREGON 
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE (BUDGETARY BASIS)  – 
BUDGET AND ACTUAL – DEBT SERVICE FUND 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 

Original Final Actual Variance
REVENUES

Intergovernmental 23,249$   23,249$   23,249$  -$   
Miscellaneous 1,000 1,000 1,712  712 

Total Revenues 24,249  24,249  24,961  712 

EXPENDITURES

Debt service

Principal 178,150  178,150  177,197 953 
Interest 65,061  65,061  66,014  (953)  

Total Expenditures 243,211  243,211  243,211 - 

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) 
EXPENDITURES (218,962)  (218,962)  (218,250)  712 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 236,000  236,000  236,000 - 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 17,038  17,038  17,750  712 

FUND BALANCE, beginning of year 309,091  309,091  309,572 481 

FUND BALANCE, end of year 326,129$      326,129$   327,322$   1,193$   

Budget Amounts

80



COMPLIANCE SECTION 

81



- 52 -

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
REQUIRED BY OREGON STATE REGULATIONS 

Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 
City of Dayton 
Dayton, Oregon  

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, the 
basic financial statements of the City of Dayton, Oregon (the City) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2022, and 
have issued our report thereon dated December 21, 2022.  

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and 
grants, including the provisions of Oregon Revised Statutes as specified in Oregon Administrative Rules 162-10-
000 through 162-10-320 of the Minimum Standards for Audits of Oregon Municipal Corporations, noncompliance 
with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statements amounts. However, 
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we 
do not express such an opinion.  

We performed procedures to the extent we considered necessary to address the required comments and disclosures 
which included, but were not limited to the following: 

 Deposit of public funds with financial institutions (ORS Chapter 295).
 Indebtedness limitations, restrictions and repayment.
 Budgets legally required (ORS Chapter 294).
 Insurance and fidelity bonds in force or required by law.
 Programs funded from outside sources.
 Highway revenues used for public highways, roads, and streets.
 Authorized investment of surplus funds (ORS Chapter 294).
 Public contracts and purchasing (ORS Chapters 279A, 279B, 279C).
 Accountability for collecting or receiving money by elected officials - no money was collected or

received by elected officials.

In connection with our testing nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe the City was not in substantial 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants, including the provisions of Oregon 
Revised Statutes as specified in Oregon Administrative Rules 162-10-000 through 162-10-320 of the Minimum 
Standards for Audits of Oregon Municipal Corporations.  

82



- 53 -

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City's internal control over 
financial reporting to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of 
expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
City's internal control. 

Restriction on Use 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the City Council and management of the City of 
Dayton, Oregon and the Oregon Secretary of State and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other 
than these parties. 

GROVE, MUELLER & SWANK, P.C. 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

By: 
Devan W. Esch, A Shareholder 
December 21, 2022 

83



This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

84



To: Honorable Mayor and City Councilors 

From: Rochelle Roaden, City Manager 

Issue: Temporary Sign Approval for the Dayton VFW Bingo Monthly Event  

Date: April 3, 2023 

Background Information: 

In 2020, the Dayton VFW moved their meeting location from the City Hall Annex to the 
Community Center to provide additional space and safety precautions for its members during the 
pandemic.  In addition to their monthly meetings, they have started renting the Community 
Center on the first Sunday of each month and hosting BINGO for the community.  This event is 
a fundraiser for the non-profit.  The VFW purchased four A-board signs with printed event 
information to help advertise their event and direct folks to the Community Center from the main 
streets in Dayton. Attached is a map of where they would like to set up their A-Board signs on 
the first Sunday of each month from 10 am to 8 pm.    

Per Dayton Municipal Code (DMC) 7.4.105.02 (see attached) for the Central Business Overlay 
Zone, one A-Board sign is permitted per business to be placed in front of the business during its 
business hours.  Our current temporary sign code does not address A-Board event signage. This 
will be included in the upcoming temporary sign code update that is a current strategic goal of 
the city council.  

In the meantime, we are asking the Council for guidance and/or approval to allow the VFW to 
put up their Bingo event signage one Sunday each month on the corner of 3rd and Ferry, 4th and 
Ferry (on the park corners) and on Alder Street on both sides of 3rd Street. (see attached map)  

85



This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

86



P
ro

p
o

se
d

 V
FW

 A
-B

o
ar

d
 S

ig
n

 L
o

ca
ti

o
n

s 

87



This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

88



7.4.105.01 Purpose And Applicability: 

Sign regulations are intended to protect the character while enhancing and contributing to the economic 
vitality of the commercial core. The City acknowledges the need to effectively communicate and attract 
the eye to the business for which they are intended to advertise. Signs should be compatible or 
integrated with the architecture and should not obscure or dominate the building or business. In the 
review of sign applications within the City, the following criteria and standards shall apply. All properties 
within the Central Business Overlay (CBO) and all commercial uses within the Commercial Residential 
(CR) Zone shall be subject to the provisions of this section. Unless specifically listed as a permitted use 
or type in this section, other sign types and uses are prohibited. The Dayton Sign Code shall not be 
construed to permit the erection or maintenance of any sign at any place or in any manner unlawful 
under any other city code provision or other applicable law. In any case where a part of the Dayton 
Sign Code conflicts with a provision of any zoning, development, building, fire, safety or health 
ordinance or code, the provision which establishes a stricter standard for the protection of the public 
health and safety shall prevail. 

HISTORY 
Adopted by Ord. 652 II on 10/7/2021 

7.4.105.02 Permitted Signs 

1. Wall signs.
2. Freestanding signs.
3. Projecting signs.
4. A-Board signs (one per tenant space).
5. Temporary Signs.

1. Temporary signs are allowed provided they are erected not longer than sixty (60) days
prior to an event and fifteen (15) days after an event. Temporary fabric or paper signs
may be placed upon the window opening of a non-residential building when such signs
do not obscure more than twenty (20) percent of the window area, and no more than ten
(10) percent of the total primary facade area.

2. All other temporary signs shall be installed for not longer than 30 days in a calendar year.
6. Awning signs.

1. Sign lettering and imagery may only be located on the awning skirt.
7. Flags (maximum of two per property).

HISTORY 
Adopted by Ord. 652 II on 10/7/2021 

7.4.105.03 Maximum Sign Area: 

1. Wall signs: one (1) square foot of sign area for each one linear foot of building façade not
exceeding 100 square feet. This maximum area shall apply to all signs attached to the building
such that the total area of all signs combined on the property does not exceed 100 square feet.

2. Freestanding Signs: 24 square feet.
3. Projecting signs: Blade, projecting or hanging signs shall be limited to one (1) per tenant space.

Projecting signs shall have a maximum area of eight (8) square feet.
4. One (1) A-Board sign is permitted per business or property and shall measure no more than

three (3) feet wide and not more than four (4) feet high. A-Board signs shall not be calculated in
total sign area calculations.

5. Temporary signs: 12 square feet.
6. Awning: 6 square feet. Must comply with the provisions of 7.4.105.02.F.1.
7. Flags: 15 square feet per flag.

89

https://dayton.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=7.4.105.01_Purpose_And_Applicability:
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/dayton/ordinances/pdf/Ord_652%20II.pdf
https://dayton.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=7.4.105.02_Permitted_Signs
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/dayton/ordinances/pdf/Ord_652%20II.pdf
https://dayton.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=7.4.105.03_Maximum_Sign_Area:


HISTORY 
Adopted by Ord. 652 II on 10/7/2021 

7.4.105.04 Maximum Sigh Height: 

1. Wall signs: 6 feet. May not project higher than the height of the roof.
2. Free-standing signs: 6 feet.

HISTORY 
Adopted by Ord. 652 II on 10/7/2021 

7.4.105.05 Location: 

1. Wall signs shall be placed in traditional locations in order to fit within architectural features, such
as: above transoms, on cornice fascia boards, or below cornices.

2. The edge of a projecting sign furthest from the wall shall not extend more than 42 inches from a
wall, the bottom of the sign shall be no lower than eight (8) feet above a right-of-way or private
sidewalk area and the top of the sign shall not extend over the roof line of the building.

3. A-board signs.

1. A-Board signs may be placed upon private property or within an adjacent public right-of-
way along the frontage of the business displaying the sign when a minimum of forty-two
(42) inches of clear pedestrian walkway is available immediately adjacent to the sign.

2. Removal. A-Board signs shall be movable at all times and displayed only during the hours
the business is open.

3. Freestanding.
Freestanding signs shall only be permitted when the property has a building setback
greater than 15 feet.

4. Temporary signs must be located on the subject property and may not infringe upon the frontage
of another business.

5. Awnings: Text on awnings shall be limited to that placed upon the awning skirt only and shall be
included in the calculation of the maximum allowable sign area.

HISTORY
Adopted by Ord. 652 II on 10/7/2021

7.4.105.06 Illumination 

1. Hanging signs may be externally illuminated although ambient light is usually sufficient to light
these small signs. Planning staff must review and approve alternative lighting designs.

2. Direct or in-direct illumination shall be permitted, provided all illumination is directed away from
adjacent property. The applicant must submit a photometric plan showing that there will be no
light trespass on neighboring properties.

1. Internally lit signs, including Neon or LED signage shall be permitted subject to the
following restrictions:

1. Signs shall be limited to one (1) sign per business, not exceeding three (3) square
feet in area, and shall be limited to three (3) colors. Strobe, blinking or flashing
lights are prohibited.

2. Awning signs may not be illuminated.

90

https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/dayton/ordinances/pdf/Ord_652%20II.pdf
https://dayton.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=7.4.105.04_Maximum_Sigh_Height:
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/dayton/ordinances/pdf/Ord_652%20II.pdf
https://dayton.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=7.4.105.05_Location:
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/dayton/ordinances/pdf/Ord_652%20II.pdf
https://dayton.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=7.4.105.06_Illumination


HISTORY 
Adopted by Ord. 652 II on 10/7/2021 

7.4.105.07 Design Standards: 

All signs within the CBO shall be subject to the following additional design standards 

1. The placement of signage shall not visually obscure architecturally significant features of the
building.

2. Where signage is proposed on (or behind) window surfaces, such signage should not
substantially obscure visibility through the window and should be incidental to the scale of the
window. Larger window signs will be considered in the overall sign allowances for individual
tenants.

3. Generally, the placement of signage shall occur below the sill of the second story windows.
Alternative placement may be considered under the following circumstances:

1. Free-standing signs must have a base of either a flower bed or shrubbery to integrate the
sign into the streetscape.

2. The placement of signs must not disrupt or obstruct the vision of drivers or pedestrians
so as to create a hazardous situation. No signs shall be so located as to significantly
obstruct pedestrian circulation.

HISTORY 
Adopted by Ord. 652 II on 10/7/2021 

91

https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/dayton/ordinances/pdf/Ord_652%20II.pdf
https://dayton.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=7.4.105.07_Design_Standards:
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/municipalcodeonline.com-new/dayton/ordinances/pdf/Ord_652%20II.pdf


This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

92



To: Honorable Mayor and City Councilors 

From: Rochelle Roaden, City Manager 

Issue: Sewer Rate Study Presentation, Tim Tice, Oregon Association of Water Utilities 
(OAWU) 

Date: April 3, 2023 

History/Background 

Council Goal A – Develop and maintain resilient infrastructure to support operations and 
meet growth.  

The City Council 2022-2023 Strategic Plan Goals include completing a sewer rate study.   
The city contracted with Tim Tice, OAWU, to complete a sewer rate study to assess our rate 
structure and to confirm that our rates are supporting the cost of the sewer system and the sewer 
system capital improvements.  

The sewer rates are currently a base rate of $44.51 per month. The last sewer rate increase was in 
2017/18 for $4.51.  This increase was to fund the $2.3 million debt payment on the $3.2 million 
Main Pump Station and Ferry Street Trunk Sewer project completed in 2019. (The City received 
$910,000 in grant funds for this project.)   

On November 7, 2022, Tim Tice presented an update to the City Council on the rate study 
including a proposed rate and methodology change for sewer rates which is in alignment with the 
water rate structure that was adopted in January of 2022 after completing a water rate study.   
The Council asked to see updated numbers that included the cost of the loan payment for the 
bridge and sewer line upgrade project ($6,000,000).  Additionally, to update the methodology 
using a base allowance to provide an equitable cost to all users.  

Mr. Tice will be presenting the attached rate options report and will be available to answer any 
questions the Council may have.  

93



This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

94



Us
er

 C
la

ss
Si

ze
 (i

n)
Ex

is
tin

g 
Ra

te
Cu

. F
t. 

Al
lo

w
Un

it 
Pr

ic
e

O
pt

io
n 

O
ne

Cu
. F

t. 
Al

lo
w

 - 
2

Un
it 

   
   

   
 

Pr
ic

e 
- 

3
O

pt
io

n 
Tw

o
Cu

. F
t. 

Al
lo

w
Un

it 
Pr

ic
e

Re
si

de
nt

ia
l (

in
)

5/
8 

by
 3

/4
44

.5
1

$ 
   

   
   

  
0

51
. 4

2
$ 

   
   

   
  

2
51

.4
2

$ 
   

   
   

  
4

C
om

m
er

ci
al

5/
8 

by
 3

/4
44

.5
1

$ 
   

   
   

  
0

51
.4

2
$ 

   
   

   
  

2
51

.4
2

$ 
   

   
   

  
4

1.
0

50
.5

1
$ 

   
   

   
  

0
71

.9
9

$ 
   

   
   

  
3

71
.9

9
$ 

   
   

   
  

6
1.

5
44

.5
1

$ 
   

   
   

  
0

92
.5

6
$ 

   
   

   
  

4
92

.5
6

$ 
   

   
   

  
7

2.
0

44
.5

1
$ 

   
   

   
  

0
14

9.
12

$ 
   

   
   

6
14

9.
12

$ 
   

   
   

12
3.

0
44

.5
1

$ 
   

   
   

  
0

56
5.

62
$ 

   
   

   
22

56
5.

62
$ 

   
   

   
44

4.
0

44
.5

1
$ 

   
   

   
  

0
71

9.
88

$ 
   

   
   

28
71

9.
88

$ 
   

   
   

56
6.

0
44

.5
1

$ 
   

   
   

  
0

1,
07

9.
82

$ 
   

   
 

42
1,

07
9.

82
$ 

   
   

 
84

26
0,

00
0.

00
$ 

   
24

.4
9

$ 
   

   
   

  12
.2

5
$ 

   
   

   
  

83
2,

53
0.

00
$ 

   
1,

09
2,

03
1.

00
$ 

1,
09

2,
03

1.
00

$ 

13
0,

00
0.

00
$ 

   
In

cl
ud

ed
In

cl
ud

ed
96

2,
53

0.
00

$ 
   

1,
09

2,
03

1.
00

$ 
1,

09
2,

03
1.

00
$ 

59
7,

34
2.

24
$ 

   

13
0,

00
0.

00
$ 

   
In

cl
ud

ed
In

cl
ud

ed
1,

09
2,

03
1.

00
$ 

1,
09

2,
03

1.
00

$ 
1,

09
2,

03
1.

00
$ 

72
6,

26
1.

24
$ 

   

Re
si

de
nt

ia
l M

o.
 B

ill
Cu

. F
t.

7/
1/

20
23

Ex
is

tin
g

7/
1/

20
23

7/
1/

20
23

Ty
pi

ca
l A

ve
 U

sa
ge

 
5.

44
56

.7
6

$ 
   

   
   

  
12

.2
5

$ 
  

83
.9

6
$ 

   
   

   
  

74
.6

4
$ 

   
   

   
  

64
.7

4
$ 

   
   

   
  

7.
00

56
.7

6
$ 

   
   

   
  

91
.7

6
$ 

   
   

   
  

85
.1

7
$ 

   
   

   
  

79
.1

7
$ 

   
   

   
  

10
.0

56
.7

6
$ 

   
   

   
  

10
6.

76
$ 

   
   

   
10

5.
42

$ 
   

   
   

10
6.

92
$ 

   
   

   
Pr

oj
ec

te
d 

Re
ve

nu
es

 '2
3-

'2
4

59
7,

34
2.

24
$ 

   
1,

10
7,

54
8.

00
$ 

1,
10

5,
28

2.
00

$ 
1,

10
2,

49
6.

00
$ 

7/
1/

20
24

Ex
is

tin
g

7/
1/

20
24

7/
1/

20
24

Ty
pi

ca
l A

ve
 U

sa
ge

 
5.

44
69

.0
1

$ 
   

   
   

  
12

.2
5

$ 
  

90
.7

7
$ 

   
   

   
  

7.
00

69
.0

1
$ 

   
   

   
  

97
.0

1
$ 

   
   

   
  

10
.0

0
69

.0
1

$ 
   

   
   

  
10

9.
01

$ 
   

   
    N

A 
 

$5
.0

0 

$4
.0

0

NA
NA

Tw
o-

Ye
ar

 A
pp

ro
ac

h

To
ta

l A
nn

ua
l B

rid
ge

 P
ay

m
en

t
Br

id
ge

 P
ay

m
en

t p
er

 C
on

ne
ct

io
n

Pr
oj

ec
te

d 
Re

ve
nu

es
 '2

3-
'2

4

2 
- A

llo
w

an
ce

 o
f w

as
te

w
at

er
 w

ith
 b

as
e 

ra
te

 m
at

ch
es

 th
e 

w
at

er
 ra

te
 s

tu
dy

 fo
rm

at

An
nu

al
 B

rid
ge

 F
un

di
ng

 - 
Pa

rt
 1

 - 
'2

3

Pr
oj

ec
te

d 
Re

ve
nu

es
 '2

4-
'2

5

An
nu

al
 B

rid
ge

 F
un

di
ng

 - 
Pa

rt
 2

 - 
'2

4
To

ta
l '

24
 - 

'2
5 

Bu
dg

et

Cu
rr

en
t P

ro
po

se
d 

Bu
dg

et

No
te

s:
1 

- $
12

.2
5 

pe
r c

on
ne

ct
io

n 
ad

de
d 

to
 th

e 
ba

se
 ra

te
 J

ul
y 

1,
 2

02
3 

an
d 

20
24

 to
 c

ov
er

 c
os

t a
ss

oc
ia

te
d 

w
ith

 b
rid

ge
 fu

nd
in

g,
 a

cc
ru

in
g 

m
on

ie
s 

fo
r f

irs
t p

ay
m

en
t ≈

 2
02

5

6.
75

$ 
 

9.
25

$ 
 

To
ta

l '
23

 - 
'2

4 
Bu

dg
et

3 
- A

lig
ns

 w
ith

 u
ni

t c
ha

rg
e 

se
t w

ith
 w

at
er

 ra
te

 s
tu

dy

Co
m

pa
ris

on
 E

xi
st

in
g 

w
ith

 R
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
ns

 - 
$1

,0
92

,0
31

.0
0

95



This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

96



    CITY OF DAYTON 
  2023-2024 BUDGET CALENDAR 

April 7, 2023 
First Legal Notice of Budget Committee Meeting - May 1, 2023. Publish in the News Register on 
April 21, 2023 for the purpose of receiving 2023-2024 Proposed Budget and State Revenue 
Sharing.  

April 21, 2023 Second Legal Notice of Budget Committee Meeting – May 1, 2023. Publish no later than April 
22, 2023 on the City of Dayton website. 

May 1, 2023 
Monday 6:30 p.m. 

General meeting of the total Budget Committee (City Council and Citizen Committee members) 

1. Budget Committee Chair is elected (Not a Council member) and Secretary is elected
(City Recorder).

2. City Manager presents proposed budget and budget message.
3. Hear public comment on the proposed budget and public hearing on State Revenue

Sharing.

May 15, 2023 
Monday 6:30 p.m. 

First deliberation meeting of the total Budget Committee. 

1. Reports and recommendations are given and Budget Committee makes changes as
needed.

2. The Budget Committee passes a motion recommending to the City Council a budget for
Fiscal Year 2023/2024 and approving an amount or rate of total property taxes to be
certified for collection.  Dinner will be served at 6:00 p.m. in Council Chambers.

May 22, 2023 
Monday 6:30 p.m. Continued deliberation meeting of the Budget Committee (if needed). 

May 22, 2023  
Financial Summary and Notice of Budget Hearing advertisement of Budget, including summary 
budget statements for the June 5, 2023 meeting, needs to be noticed in the News Register for 
publication on May 26, 2023.  

June 5, 2023 Public Hearing –  held in Council Chambers regarding the recommended 2023/2024 Budget and 
proposed use of State Revenue Sharing Funds. 

June 20, 2023 City Council adopts a Resolution adopting budget, making appropriations and levying property 
taxes for general fund and special operating funds (public safety) and a resolution regarding 
receiving State Revenue Sharing Funds. 

June 23, 2023 Certify Property Tax Levy to County Tax Assessor on or before July14, 2023. 

June 23, 2023 Send copy of adopted budget to the Yamhill County Clerk via email: clerk@co.yamhill.or.us 

July 14, 2023 Department of Administrative Services (DAS) Certifies City to receive State revenues under 
ORS 221.770 and ORS 221.760. Annual Certification is done electronically. Attach Resolution. 

97

mailto:clerk@co.yamhill.or.us


This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

98



City of Dayton Check Register - no signature lines Page:     1

Check Issue Dates: 2/1/2023 - 2/28/2023 Mar 31, 2023  01:54PM

Report Criteria:

Report type:  Summary

GL Check Check Vendor Invoice Invoice Invoice Discount Check

Period Issue Date Number Number Payee Number Sequence GL Account Taken Amount

02/23 02/09/2023 28418 1958 Conor Culp DRAW 02092 1 100.000.201.00 .00 300.00

02/23 02/16/2023 28419 329 Alexonet Inc 2425 11 105.105.705.30 .00 2,301.25

02/23 02/16/2023 28420 127 Baker & Taylor Multiple 1 100.104.715.00 .00 285.71

02/23 02/16/2023 28421 1878 Brightside Electric & Lighting Multiple 11 300.301.707.00 .00 452.00

02/23 02/16/2023 28422 125 Canon Solutions America Multiple 10 400.400.601.00 .00 763.01

02/23 02/16/2023 28423 255 Cascade Columbia 856938 2 300.300.616.00 .00 3,085.08

02/23 02/16/2023 28424 166 Cascade Form Systems Multiple 10 400.400.601.00 .00 744.64

02/23 02/16/2023 28425 1922 Cintas Corp Multiple 6 400.400.616.10 .00 179.14

02/23 02/16/2023 28426 105 City of Dayton Multiple 1 100.103.619.00 .00 2,438.73

02/23 02/16/2023 28427 362 City of Newberg Multiple 1 500.500.752.00 .00 1,824.64

02/23 02/16/2023 28428 1865 Comcast Business 8778105130 1 400.400.705.30 .00 104.85

02/23 02/16/2023 28429 1841 CyntrX INV149524 5 400.400.614.00 .00 45.00

02/23 02/16/2023 28430 1954 Daniela Lopez DEPOSIT RE 1 100.100.750.20 .00 200.00

02/23 02/16/2023 28431 148 Davison Auto Parts 396995 6 400.400.617.00 .00 172.46

02/23 02/16/2023 28432 1683 Dayton Village HOA 2023 1 760.760.920.00 .00 1,800.00

02/23 02/16/2023 28433 111 DCBS Fiscal Services DECEMBER  1 100.106.700.35 .00 149.70

02/23 02/16/2023 28434 388 Dell Marketing L.P. 1064684277 6 400.400.903.00 .00 1,019.69

02/23 02/16/2023 28435 231 DOWL Multiple 1 700.700.910.41 .00 10,093.44

02/23 02/16/2023 28436 789 Edge Analytical Multiple 1 300.300.751.00 .00 352.00

02/23 02/16/2023 28437 543 Ferrellgas 1121914154 10 400.400.600.10 .00 606.28

02/23 02/16/2023 28438 694 GPEC Electrical Contractors Multiple 8 400.400.705.10 .00 7,144.09

02/23 02/16/2023 28439 1953 Gregory Cramer CASH BAIL 1 101.000.418.00 .00 35.00

02/23 02/16/2023 28440 1956 Hadley Abell DEPOSIT RE 2 400.400.750.00 .00 95.78

02/23 02/16/2023 28441 957 Haworth, Inc Multiple 1 770.770.910.70 .00 141,479.37

02/23 02/16/2023 28442 107 League of Oregon Cities Multiple 11 400.400.611.00 .00 80.00

02/23 02/16/2023 28443 121 McMinnville Water & Light 67508 223 1 300.300.600.00 .00 254.74

02/23 02/16/2023 28444 1957 Melissa Lewis DEPOSIT RE 1 100.100.750.20 .00 350.00

02/23 02/16/2023 28445 1514 MidAmerica Books Multiple 1 100.104.715.00 .00 384.15

02/23 02/16/2023 28446 124 Mid-Willamette Valley COG Multiple 1 100.105.705.20 .00 5,812.75

02/23 02/16/2023 28447 1933 Mobile Modular 2369306 4 100.103.601.00 .00 904.90

02/23 02/16/2023 28448 832 Newman Paving & Curbing 7669 1 200.200.614.40 .00 1,800.00

02/23 02/16/2023 28449 109 News Register 136622 12 400.400.700.10 .00 149.03

02/23 02/16/2023 28450 871 ODP Business Solutions, LLC Multiple 10 400.400.601.00 .00 201.16

02/23 02/16/2023 28451 758 OHA - Cashier LINDOW OP 1 300.300.706.00 .00 90.00

02/23 02/16/2023 28452 289 Oregon Mayors Association 523 1 500.500.611.00 .00 25.83

02/23 02/16/2023 28453 1294 Oscar Marquez DEPOSIT RE 2 400.400.750.00 .00 110.42

02/23 02/16/2023 28454 103 PGE Multiple 1 400.400.600.00 .00 10,940.18

02/23 02/16/2023 28455 1388 Pitney Bowes 1022269308 10 400.400.601.10 .00 107.88

02/23 02/16/2023 28456 213 Pitney Bowes Purchase Power STATEMENT  10 400.400.601.10 .00 1,210.50

02/23 02/16/2023 28457 621 Portland Engineering, Inc Multiple 1 300.300.614.00 .00 1,524.00

02/23 02/16/2023 28458 240 Print NW 22588 11 400.400.601.00 .00 58.00

02/23 02/16/2023 28459 1959 San Martin de Porres DEPOSIT RE 1 100.100.750.20 .00 650.00

02/23 02/16/2023 28460 119 Sprint 414585229-2 10 400.400.602.00 .00 3,203.31

02/23 02/16/2023 28461 875 Step Forward Activities 127308 10 400.400.601.00 .00 539.00

02/23 02/16/2023 28462 1955 Stephanie O'Halloran DEPOSIT RE 1 100.100.750.20 .00 200.00

02/23 02/16/2023 28463 171 Terminix Processing Center 429591266 10 100.104.707.00 .00 100.00

02/23 02/16/2023 28464 1763 Terrence D. Mahr 22-012 1 101.101.705.40 .00 250.00

02/23 02/16/2023 28465 937 United Site Services Multiple 1 100.103.619.00 .00 1,406.40

02/23 02/16/2023 28466 1001 Utility Service Co., Inc 573937 1 600.600.930.60 .00 7,050.44

02/23 02/16/2023 28467 102 Verizon 9925119069 10 400.400.602.00 .00 1,992.55

02/23 02/16/2023 28468 154 Westech Engineering, Inc Multiple 1 400.400.705.60 .00 26,610.08

02/23 02/16/2023 28469 1472 WIN-911 Software 4A268E14-2 1 300.301.705.30 .00 800.00

02/23 02/16/2023 28470 114 Yamhill County Sheriff FEBRUARY 1 101.101.705.10 .00 15,324.12

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check

99



City of Dayton Check Register - no signature lines Page:     2

Check Issue Dates: 2/1/2023 - 2/28/2023 Mar 31, 2023  01:54PM

GL Check Check Vendor Invoice Invoice Invoice Discount Check

Period Issue Date Number Number Payee Number Sequence GL Account Taken Amount

02/23 02/16/2023 28471 1960 Zach's Mobile Repair 395 5 400.400.614.00 .00 3,285.49

02/23 02/16/2023 28472 614 Ziplyfiber Multiple 1 300.300.602.00 .00 323.54

02/23 02/28/2023 28474 329 Alexonet Inc 2448 11 105.105.705.30 .00 1,262.62

02/23 02/28/2023 28475 127 Baker & Taylor 2037273754 1 100.104.715.00 .00 18.61

02/23 02/28/2023 28476 151 Beery, Elsner & Hammond Multiple 11 500.500.700.00 .00 1,738.50

02/23 02/28/2023 28477 1064 Botten's Equipment Rental 1-632813 1 100.103.619.00 .00 10.00

02/23 02/28/2023 28478 1497 C3 Intelligence, Inc. 30099 7 200.200.705.00 .00 401.50

02/23 02/28/2023 28479 125 Canon Solutions America Multiple 10 400.400.601.00 .00 607.58

02/23 02/28/2023 28480 1962 Carrie Lawson DEPOSIT RE 1 100.100.707.30 .00 200.00

02/23 02/28/2023 28481 255 Cascade Columbia 859691 1 400.400.616.00 .00 1,144.08

02/23 02/28/2023 28482 1961 Christian Melara DEPOSIT RE 1 100.100.750.20 .00 200.00

02/23 02/28/2023 28483 1922 Cintas Corp Multiple 6 400.400.616.10 .00 227.86

02/23 02/28/2023 28484 362 City of Newberg JANUARY 20 4 100.106.716.00 .00 516.15

02/23 02/28/2023 28485 464 City of Willamina 2023-001 1 400.400.905.00 .00 10,000.00

02/23 02/28/2023 28486 1568 Correct Equipment Inc 48690 1 600.600.910.20 .00 469.14

02/23 02/28/2023 28487 111 DCBS Fiscal Services JANUARY 20 1 100.106.700.35 .00 76.45

02/23 02/28/2023 28488 1937 Don Cutler FEB EXPEN 2 100.103.616.10 .00 279.99

02/23 02/28/2023 28489 789 Edge Analytical Multiple 1 300.300.751.00 .00 432.00

02/23 02/28/2023 28490 1810 Elizabeth Sagmiller 224 1 400.400.705.80 .00 3,230.00

02/23 02/28/2023 28491 1630 Gerry Butler 53 BOOKS 1 100.104.715.00 .00 530.00

02/23 02/28/2023 28492 134 Iron Mountain Records Mgmt HGGK362 10 400.400.601.00 .00 114.47

02/23 02/28/2023 28493 1468 Jillanne Wauters DEPOSIT RE 1 100.100.750.20 .00 200.00

02/23 02/28/2023 28494 108 Les Schwab Multiple 6 400.400.614.00 .00 740.25

02/23 02/28/2023 28495 1572 McMinnville Commercial Cleaners  Multiple 1 100.100.707.30 .00 1,000.00

02/23 02/28/2023 28496 1507 McMinnville Immediate Health Car 1283K1814 2 100.103.705.00 .00 775.58

02/23 02/28/2023 28497 124 Mid-Willamette Valley COG 2225 1 100.105.705.20 .00 1,057.50

02/23 02/28/2023 28498 1933 Mobile Modular 2380219 4 100.103.601.00 .00 904.90

02/23 02/28/2023 28499 871 ODP Business Solutions, LLC 2898272980 10 400.400.601.00 .00 63.69

02/23 02/28/2023 28500 758 OHA - Cashier 2023-2024 A- 1 300.300.706.10 .00 245.00

02/23 02/28/2023 28501 103 PGE Multiple 1 400.400.600.00 .00 10,968.78

02/23 02/28/2023 28502 621 Portland Engineering, Inc Multiple 3 400.400.705.10 .00 4,887.24

02/23 02/28/2023 28503 240 Print NW 22669 1 500.500.752.00 .00 39.00

02/23 02/28/2023 28504 106 Recology Western Oregon Multiple 2 200.200.603.00 .00 705.08

02/23 02/28/2023 28505 1194 Rochelle Roaden EXP FEB 23 11 400.400.611.00 .00 149.39

02/23 02/28/2023 28506 942 Santiago Rangel DEPOSIT RE 1 100.100.750.20 .00 650.00

02/23 02/28/2023 28507 316 Statesman Journal Multiple 10 400.400.705.00 .00 1,086.34

02/23 02/28/2023 28508 102 Verizon 9927497260 10 400.400.602.00 .00 990.23

02/23 02/28/2023 28509 1876 Western Rock Resources 51797 1 200.200.614.41 .00 181.75

02/23 02/28/2023 28510 1785 Western Systems Multiple 5 400.400.614.00 .00 1,965.12

02/23 02/28/2023 28511 117 YCOM 5009002 1 101.101.770.00 .00 2,296.67

02/23 02/28/2023 28512 614 Ziplyfiber Multiple 1 300.300.602.00 .00 670.50

  Grand Totals:  .00 312,446.30

M = Manual Check, V = Void Check

100



DaytonOR web

All Web Site Data Analytics Go to report

Jan 1, 2023 - Jan 31, 2023Web Tra�c Dashboard

Total Users

207
% of Total: 100.00% (207)

Users

Top Pageviews

Page Pageviews

There is no data for this view.

by Browser

Browser Users

Safari (in-app) 141

Android Runtime 66

by Device Category

Device Category Users

mobile 191

tablet 16

by Operating System

Operating System Users

iOS 141

Android 66

 Users

Jan 9 Jan 16 Jan 23 Jan 30

505050

100100100

© 2023 Google

All Users
100.00% Sessions

101

https://analytics.google.com/analytics/web/?utm_source=pdfReportLink#/dashboard/wdxQw9USQmicvFFcvmDC5g/a91677897w224577972p212859765/_u.date00=20230101&_u.date01=20230131


102



DaytonOR web

Mobile App Analytics Go to report

Jan 1, 2023 - Jan 31, 2023Mobile Dashboard

Total Users

207
% of Total: 100.00% (207)

Users

by Device

Operating System Users

iOS 141

Android 66

Total Screen Views

Screen Name Screen Views

Home 389

Noti�cations 137

News 79

Agendas & Minutes 28

City Council 26

FAQ's 15

Parks 14

Report a Code Violation 11

Our Staff 8

Who do I Contact? 8

 Users

Jan 9 Jan 16 Jan 23 Jan 30

505050

100100100

© 2023 Google

All Users
100.00% Sessions

103

https://analytics.google.com/analytics/web/?utm_source=pdfReportLink#/dashboard/zzWum05zS5GIwlUtTQrOOA/a91677897w224577972p213053564/_u.date00=20230101&_u.date01=20230131


104



To: Mayor Marquez and City Councilors 

Through: Rochelle Roaden, City Manager 

From: Jason Shirley, Code Compliance 

Subject: Code Compliance Activities Report  

Date: March 2023 

2022/2023 

Category Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun 

Animals 2 2 6 2 1 3 7 1 1 

Building 1 2 1 4 3 2 

Junk Private Property 1 1 2 

Noise 1 1 1 1 1 1 

Noxious Vegetation 2 1 1 1 

Parking Right-of-way 5 17 12 1 6 5 4 8 2 

Storing Junk - ROW 5 18 10 4 4 

Attractive Nuisance 1 

Posting Signs 2 2 4 1 1 1 1 

Camping 1 1 

Sidewalks 1 

Vehicle Code/YCSO 2 1 

Other 4 4 4 3 1 

TOTAL 12 29 47 25 12 15 21 19 8 

105



This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

116



117



118


	1-Action Item - Adoption of Ordinance 655.pdf
	From:  Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	2-ORD 655- Psilocybin TMP Land Use Code Revisions Final .pdf
	Section 1.  The City hereby adopts the proposed Land Use and Development Code Text Amendments related to psilocybin land uses as set forth in the attached Exhibit “A”.
	Section 2.  In support of its decision, the City Council adopts the findings within the Planning Commission Recommendation for File No. LA 2022-01, dated November 2, 2022, as set forth in the attached Exhibit “B.”

	1-Park Improvement Survey Staff Report.pdf
	From:  Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	1-Award of Utility Bridge Construction Services Contract .pdf
	From:  Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	2-Dayton Award Recommendation.pdf
	2022-11-21 Award Recommendation
	Recommendation Attachments
	Dayton Preliminary Bid Results
	3.1 Dayton Bid Form
	3.2 Dayton Bid Bond Form
	3.4 Dayton First Tier Subcontractor Form_Submit
	3.5 Dayton Bidder Responsibility Forms
	3.7 DAYTON Performance Bond
	3.8 DAYTON Labor Material Bond


	ADP44E.tmp
	From:  Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	ADPD462.tmp
	From:  Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	ADPFF09.tmp
	From:  Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	ADPA10F.tmp
	From:  Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	3-Wellfield Production and Distribution - Nov 2022.pdf
	For Dist

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	1-Action Item 22-23-08 US Bank Signing Authority.pdf
	From:  Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	1-Action Item -Res 22-23-09 SCA Grant .pdf
	From:  Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	4-Exhibit A SCA2023-Dayton.pdf
	a. Prior to the commencement of work, Recipient shall obtain, or require its contractor to obtain, permission from the appropriate ODOT District Office to work on or along the state highway. This Agreement does not provide permission to work on or alo...
	b. ODOT may charge for review of work to be performed on or along the state highway. The estimated cost to Recipient will be determined by ODOT in advance and shall be subject to the approval of Recipient prior to the services being rendered.
	c. If the Project includes traffic control devices (see ODOT’s Traffic Manual, Chapter 5, for a description of traffic control devices) on or along a state highway, Recipient shall, pursuant to Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR) 734-020-0430, obtain the...
	d. Recipient shall enter into a separate traffic signal agreement with ODOT to cover obligations for any traffic signal being installed on a state highway.
	e. Recipient shall ensure that its electrical inspectors possess a current State Certified Traffic Signal Inspector certificate before the inspectors inspect electrical installations on state highways. The ODOT’s District Office shall verify complianc...

	Action Item - Approval of HPC member reappointment.pdf
	From:  Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	Blank Page
	1-Approval of Iand I study .pdf
	From:  Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Staff Report - Domain Change Discussion.pdf
	From:  Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	Blank Page
	1-Staff Report City of Dayton 2022 Annual Survey.pdf
	From:  Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	1-Park Improvement Survey Staff Report.pdf
	From:  Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Wellfield Water Production Report 2021-2023.pdf
	For Dist

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	1- Work Session Item - FY22-23Goals.pdf
	From:  Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	Blank Page
	1- Work Session Item - FY22-23Goals.pdf
	From:  Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	1-Action Item - 22-23-10 Declare April 2023 as Abuse Prevention Month.pdf
	From:   Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	1-Action Item - 22-23-10 Declare April 2023 as Abuse Prevention Month.pdf
	From:   Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	1-Action Item - Audit Presentation.pdf
	From:   Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	1-Approval of Iand I study .pdf
	From:  Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	2023 OLCC Renewal Staff Report.pdf
	From:  Melissa York, City Recorder

	YCSO OLCC Incident Rpt. FY 2021-2022 - Copy.pdf
	OLCC Incident Rpt FY 21-22

	1-Action Item - Adopt City Council Goals 22-23.pdf
	From:  Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	Local Government Spring Conference.pdf
	Local Government Spring Conference
	Registration Now Open!

	Preliminary Agenda

	Wellfield Water Production Report 2021-2023.pdf
	For Dist

	1-Copy of Community Giving Donations official form - 2018-2023.pdf
	Sheet1

	Action Item - Audit Presentation.pdf
	From:   Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	2-Map of VFW Signs .pdf
	Slide 1

	1-Action Item - VFW Signs.pdf
	From:  Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	1-Action Item - VFW Signs.pdf
	From:  Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	1-Staff Report - Sewer Rate Update Tim TIce.pdf
	From:  Rochelle Roaden, City Manager

	1-Copy of Community Giving Donations official form - 2018-2023.pdf
	Sheet1




